# Law Without Lawyers: Examining the Limitations of Consumer-Centric Legal Tech Services

Shila Nhemi\*

#### ABSTRACT

The legal field is undergoing a disruptive change with the emergence of technologybased legal services aimed directly at serving the consumer, bypassing the need for a human lawyer. Specialized legal technologies powered by Artificial Intelligence (AI) or enabled by blockchain are leading to what is being referred to as new law, new ways of interpreting, implementing, and enforcing the law. Raymond Brescia has termed this transformative period in legal history as the third wave of lawyering. This wave is characterized by a new world of law without lawyers, comparable to the banking revolution, where mobile apps and online banking platforms replaced traditional tellers. There is an emergence of a legal ecosystem where conventional legal practices coexist alongside technology-driven legal services. These legal techs hold the promise of enhancing legal and justice inclusion by providing cheaper, more convenient, and more accessible legal services compared to traditional law firms and lawyers. This paper examines the emerging legal tech field, focusing on the businessto-consumer (B2C) category. B2C legal tech refers to tools designed to provide legal services and information directly to consumers without requiring the involvement of a human lawyer. This paper explores the factors driving these disruptive changes in legal services and evaluates some of the limitations of legal tech in meeting clients' legal needs. The author concludes that B2C legal tech is gaining traction. However, the author avers that these technologies have limitations in fully meeting the needs of their users; therefore, lawyers still play an essential role in the legal ecosystem. As legal tech continues to gain traction, specific measures need to be implemented to address some of their limitations and ensure the seamless integration of these technologies into the legal field. This paper contributes to the ongoing discourse on the future of the legal profession in the era of technological advancement.

<sup>\*</sup> Shila has 16+ years of experience supporting organizations in strengthening their governance, risk, and compliance practices. She has worked in the profit and non-profit sectors across the world. Currently, she is the Technical Director for Compliance and Risk at Humentum and is pursuing her Doctor of Law at Strathmore University. Email: <a href="mailto:shila.nhemi@strathmore.edu">shila.nhemi@strathmore.edu</a>

#### Keywords: Artificial Intelligence, Legal Tech, Law Tech, Legal Services, Smart Contracts, Technology-Based Legal Services, Legal Practice

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	INTRODUCTION	17
II.	EVOLUTION OF LEGAL SERVICES AND THE INCLUSION OF AI	20
	A. Cost-effective legal services	
	B. Legal inclusion	
	C. Liberalization of the legal profession	
	D. The exponential growth of technology	
III.	THE LEGAL TECH LANDSCAPE	26
	A. Overview of the underlying technology	26
	B. A review of legal tech tools	31
IV.	CHALLENGES AND LIMITATIONS OF LEGAL TECH	41
	A. Logical gaps and complex and unstructured	
	legal issues	41
	B. The unauthorized practice of law and the ethical	
	dilemma	43
	C. Lack of quality assurance	45
	D. Legal liability	46
	E. The invaluable role of lawyers	49
	F. Digital divide	52
V. 7	THE WAY FORWARD	53
	A. Technical competency of present and future lawyers	53
	B. Regulating legal tech	56
	C. Legal tech innovation hubs and regulatory sandboxes	58
VI.	CONCLUSION	61
REFERENCES		63

### I. INTRODUCTION

Technology has become an increasingly social ubiquity. Its digital threads have intertwined themselves into the fabric of society, and the resulting tapestry is both transformative and disconcerting. This shift is so profound that information theorists have compared the effect of technology in the modern era to the social transformation witnessed during the transition from the agrarian to the industrial age (Webb, 2019, p. 3). The current era, termed the information or digital society, is giving way to Society 5.0 or the Super Smart Society, and is characterized by the pervasive influence of technology across different societal aspects, including law (Záklasník & Putnová, 2019, p. 1085).

The impact of technology on the field of law cannot be overstated. Law is a matter of social architecture which means it is susceptible to the ubiquitous nature of technology (Rundle, 2012). Technology has been shaping the legal field in explicit and subtle ways for decades. However, in recent times, this interplay between law and technology has taken up a disruptive character. From AI-driven legal tools to blockchain-enabled smart contracts and legal purpose chatbots, a new legal landscape that blends conventional law with advanced technology is emerging.

These new developments have introduced new actors and new ways of service delivery, giving rise to concepts such as the commodification of law, uberisation of law, digitalization of law, digital lawyering, e-lawyering, e-courts, and Alternative Legal Service Providers (ALSP), among others (Caserta & Madsen, 2019; San et al., 2022). It is a transformation that is pushing the law into uncharted territory, shifting how the world interacts with the law, and challenging the conventional role of lawyers. Susan Navas (2019) calls it a new world of law without lawyers, reflecting in her paper that 'legal services are required, but not always lawyers', like the common adage in the finance world that banking services are needed but not always banks. Central to these technology-driven disruptions in the legal field is the concept of technology-based legal services, referred to in this paper as legal technology or legal tech. This term emerged in the year 2015, followed by law tech in 2017 (Salmeron-Manzano, 2021). For this paper, legal tech is used as a holistic concept for technology that enables humans to achieve legal ends. It includes technology applied to work, which, until recently, was being done by lawyers, and technology that the end user uses to interact with the substance of the law (Whalen, 2022).

This paper focuses on the business-to-consumer (B2C) segment of legal tech, which is aimed directly at the final consumer without the involvement of a human lawyer. B2C legal techs are considered cheaper, simpler, easily accessible, and more convenient than traditional legal services (Hongdao et al., 2019). B2C legal techs aim to capture an underserved market previously viewed as undesirable by more established conventional law firms (Bruce, 2015).

While B2C legal tech has yet to catch up with traditional legal services, its trajectory is rising. The sector is expected to double in value from USD twenty-nine point eight billion in 2022 to sixty-nine point seven billion US dollars by 2032 (Bloomberg, 2022). The 2022 Report on the State of Legal Tech in Africa by LawyersHub paints a promising picture for this industry in the African region. According to the Report, this sector currently accounts for three percent of the legal market share and is marked by the continuing emergence of innovative legal tech startups. Despite being in its early stages compared to other tech startups, Africa's legal tech sector is steadily growing. This growth is expected to continue as the LawyersHub Report underscores a noticeable increase in demand for technology-driven legal services within the region.

Literature review shows that the continued growth of legal tech is expected to bring significant disruptions in the legal field (Webb, 2020; Susskind, 2003; Susskind, 2008; Susskind, 2023; Brascia, 2023a; Navas, 2019). These disruptions are expected to impact legal structures and institutions, presenting both opportunities and challenges across substantive law, legal practice, legal education, and even the very concept of law itself (Caserta & Madsen, 2019; Brescia, 2023a; Whalen, 2022; Giuffida et al., 2018). These changes align with what is being termed as New Law by Webley et al. (2019) and involve new ways of interpreting, implementing, and enforcing the law. Brescia (2023b) refers to this wave of disruption as the 'third wave of lawyering,' marking a period of transformation in the legal profession.

According to Hongdao et al. (2019) and Bruce (2015), legal tech aims to offer more affordable, simpler, and convenient alternatives to traditional legal services. Nonetheless, while legal tech promises to enhance accessibility and enable the democratization of legal services, it raises concerns about whether the technology can effectively meet the legal needs of its users. Therefore, as legal tech continues to evolve, it is vital to understand the factors driving these technological shifts and, more importantly, to assess their potential limitations in meeting the legal requirements of their users. This forms the focus of this paper.

This paper advances the hypothesis that while legal tech seems to be gradually gaining traction, it still grapples with certain limitations in fully meeting the legal needs of its users. Therefore, specific measures need to be implemented to address some of these limitations so as to ensure its seamless co-existence with traditional legal services.

The discourse on the legal profession's future and technology's role in shaping the legal sector is ongoing and of great interest to legal scholars and professionals alike. The disruptive changes brought about by technology can potentially reshape the legal profession as it is known today. Despite this significance, it is important to acknowledge the limited academic writing on legal tech in Africa, which suggests that scholars in the continent have not extensively studied this area. Further research would be essential to better understand legal tech in Africa and its implications for the legal industry. This paper seeks to contribute to the ongoing discussions regarding legal tech. In Part II, it examines the changes in legal services and explores the factors and enablers driving this transformation. Part III provides an overview of the technology behind legal tech, while Part IV evaluates some of the limitations and challenges legal tech faces in meeting the needs of its users. Part V presents a set of recommendations followed by Part VI which summarizes the key issues discussed in the paper.

#### II. EVOLUTION OF LEGAL SERVICES AND THE INCLUSION OF AI

In his latest publication, Richard Susskind (2023) builds upon his previous insights and outlines three main drivers of change that have led to the shift in how legal services are being delivered. First, is the rapid advancement of technology. Second, is the growing demand for 'more for less' as clients face economic pressure and request services at a lower cost (International Bar Association, 2016). Finally, the liberalization of the legal market has led to more diversified and innovative legal service models. These enablers are explored in detail in the section below:

#### A. Cost-effective legal services

The need for 'more for less', as highlighted by Susskind (2023), is the biggest driver for the demand for more cost-effective legal solutions. This pressure to reduce legal costs is encouraging clients to seek technology-based legal services that promise faster, cheaper, and more efficient legal outcomes, inevitably bypassing the traditional law firm and relegating it as an irrelevant middleman (Davis, 2020).

The concern for more cost-effective legal services is pressing in Africa. The high cost of legal fees often institutionalized by professional regulations has rendered legal services inaccessible to a large segment of the population. For example, in Kenya, the Advocates Remuneration Order of 2014 sets the minimum fees for legal work, making it illegal to charge less. However, a critical look at these rates reveals that they are high, and only a small section of the population can afford them. This issue is not unique to Kenya. Dunia Prince Zongwe's research underscores this affordability crisis, revealing that only a privileged few can afford legal services in Namibia (Zongwe, 2021). This trend is also echoed in Nigeria (Azu et al., 2021), Ghana (Osse & Asiamah, 2020), and South Africa (Klaaren, 2019). With Sub-Saharan economic growth projected to decline (World Bank, 2023) and the majority of the population living on less than five point fifty-nine US dollars per day (Castaneda et al., 2019), a significant portion is priced out of legal services.

High legal costs have resulted in an untapped market with unmet legal needs (McGinnis & Pearce, 2014; LawTech UK, 2021). The prohibitively high cost of legal services has disproportionately impacted low to middle-income earners who either earn too much to qualify for pro-bono or find it difficult to justify hiring a lawyer for specific claims (Graham, 2020; Brescia et al., 2015; Navas, 2019). This predicament has created a justice gap, presenting a ripe ground for legal innovation (Brescia et al., 2015). This latent market is receptive to legal tech as a more affordable alternative to traditional legal services (LawTech UK, 2021; Navas, 2019).

The above scenario sets the stage for Clayton Christensen's theory of disruptive innovation to play out in the African continent (Christensen et al., 2015). Conventional law firms, concentrating on serving high-end clients, mostly involving commercial transactions, have often neglected the legal needs of the low-end population, deemed less profitable and, therefore, less desirable. This neglect has created a vacuum and a ripe ground for innovation and disruption in the legal industry in Africa. This vacuum is being filled by legal tech providers offering technology-driven legal solutions at a more affordable price and, in the process, democratizing access to legal services. As these cutting-edge solutions continue gaining traction, the legal industry will likely experience significant disruption (Oroszi, 2020).

#### B. Legal inclusion

Compounding the need for cost-effective legal services is the growing demand for inclusion across various African sectors. The financial sector has made progress in this area, with fintech providing access to micro-loans through products like M-Shwari in Kenya and mobile money transfers such as Mpesa. This same demand for access and inclusion is evident in Africa's legal and justice sector, and B2C legal tech can offer an affordable alternative for those who cannot afford traditional legal services. It is a technology that can help promote inclusion and make legal services accessible to a broader African population.

#### C. Liberalization of the legal profession

Historically, the legal field has thrived in exclusivity. Lawyers, through self-regulation, have erected barriers around their profession. Over decades, this has shielded the legal community from external influences by fostering monopoly, thus, restricting legal practice to only those who meet specific criteria set by the professional legal body. This 'lawyers only' approach has been zealously guarded and perpetuated across African jurisdictions.

However, the protective barriers could become a source of vulnerability in the age of technological advancement. Many in the legal industry have been hesitant, reluctant, and dismissive of technology's transformative potential due to their comfort within protective structures. Professor Barton (2014) compares this complacency to the fable of the frog in slowly boiling water unaware of the changing environment until it is too late.

Nevertheless, the legal field is witnessing a gradual shift where the barriers are breaking down. Across the world, there is a marked push towards liberalization of legal services. As defined by Dunne (2023), this liberalization is a move from a monopolized legal service market to one that is competitive and inclusive. The U.K. Services Act of 2007 exemplifies this trend, allowing non-lawyers to engage in what is termed as alternative legal service providers (ALSPs). The 2023 Thomson Reuters report on ALSPs indicates that this segment occupies twenty-point six billion US dollars of the legal market with a twenty percent growth rate, where ALSPs are predominantly in legal tech.

This de-lawyerisation indicates that the legal field is amid a de-facto deregulation of legal services, where new players beyond the confines of traditional licensed lawyers are entering the market (Dobre, 2019; Dunne, 2023; Simon et al., 2018). While the African legal landscape remains more constrained, the emergence of legal technopreneurs hints at the cracks forming in the old barriers.

In addition, the increasing automation of services across the continent is changing the shape of legal services. Take Kenya's e-citizen platform as an example. Activities such as company registration that would wholly depend on a lawyer's intervention two decades ago have now been automated. Digitization initiatives such as e-conveyancing in Rwanda and the push for the same in countries like Kenya point towards the changing role of legal practice.

One cannot overlook the structure of running law firms, whose model prioritizes short-term gains over long-term growth and innovation. Professor Katz also points out that even the most prominent law firms globally lack the collective power to usher in significant change due to the fragmented nature of the legal profession (Simon et al., 2018). This inability of law firms to rapidly change and innovate becomes especially significant in light of the entrance of the 'big four' audit firms–EY, KPMG, PwC, and Deloitte–into the legal industry.

According to studies by Thomson Reuters (2023) and LexisNexis (2021), the 'big four' audit firms are making significant inroads into the legal sector. The Thomson Reuters report shows that these firms generate around one point five billion US dollars in revenue by providing legal-related services. They are adopting a technology-focused approach, and the traditional law firm structure does not restrict them. With their vast resources, extensive global networks, and technology-driven service lines, they are a significant driver for disruption in legal service delivery.

These shifts find judicial affirmation in the landmark case of Lola v Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom, No. 14-3845 (2d Cir. 2015). In their decision, the Second Circuit brought into focus a critical differentiation when it held that tasks that can be fully automated do not constitute the practice of law. Simon et al. (2018) discuss the three-fold significance of the ruling. Firstly, this delineation means that as technology advances, fewer tasks will strictly qualify to be classified under legal practice. Secondly, tasks that can be mechanized will fall outside the confines of legal professional regulations. Thirdly, to remain relevant, lawyers must reimagine their roles in an increasingly automated era.

#### D. The exponential growth of technology

Recent years have witnessed exponential growth in technology, with more tech companies developing in Africa than in any other part of the world (Agence et al. [AFD], 2023).

To appreciate this evolution requires an understanding of Moore's law. According to Moore, the number of transistors on a computer chip doubles every two years, resulting in more powerful and cheaper computers. McGinnis and Pearce (2014) argue that this trend will likely continue. As a result, technology has become more readily and cheaply available to end users (Davis, 2020). This accessibility leads to innovations such as quantum computing and blockchain (McGinnis & Pearce, 2014). The Lawyers Hub (2022) highlights that these advancements have resulted in Africa's advanced digital infrastructure, a receptive market for digital technology, and a digitally enabled workforce.

The impact of technology in law is twofold; first, it has created an opportunity for technopreneurship in the legal field by encouraging innovation (International Bar Association, 2016). A noteworthy trend in the legal industry is the rise of legal technopreneurs, who leverage technology to improve or revolutionize legal services to fulfill unmet needs (San et al., 2022). Legal innovation hubs and accelerators also serve as incubators where legal professionals, designers, developers, entrepreneurs, and marketers collaborate to create solutions that benefit the legal field (Rodriguez, 2015). In Africa, institutions such as the Hague Institute for Innovation in Law have invested in legal tech startups, while leading law firms such as ALN Africa have started the A&K Legal Tech Incubator Hub.

Second, technology has resulted in a more sophisticated, knowledgeable, and tech-savvy client. Law has traditionally been a black box where lawyers would customize solutions in an opaque process inaccessible to clients. This opacity necessitated clients to rely heavily on lawyers as they had more knowledge of the law than them. In the information age, this opacity in law is being broken (Harvard Law School, 2015). Technology has resulted in the democratization of information, the breakdown of traditional knowledge silos that lawyers enjoyed, and the reduction of information asymmetry between lawyers and clients. This has demystified legal practice and resulted in a more informed and sophisticated clientele (Harvard Law School, 2014).

Navigating this era of the digital client necessitates adaptability. Tech-savvy clients, who are always busy, always connected, perpetually on the move, are demanding more. A study done by Onecom into the use of digital technology revealed that seven out of ten consumers would prefer a lawbot to handle their legal matters as opposed to a human lawyer because it is faster, cheaper, and simpler (Onecom, n.d.). These findings underscore the need for the African legal profession to adapt, innovate, and evolve to keep up with technological advancement.

Before delving further, the following section offers a crucial and general overview of the technology driving legal tech.

### III. THE LEGAL TECH LANDSCAPE

#### A. Overview of the underlying technology

To fully appreciate the nuances of legal tech application and the subsequent discussion on its challenges and limitations, it is essential first to establish a basic understanding of the technology that drives it. This section provides an overview of the technological underpinnings behind legal tech tools.

Legal tech can be broadly classified into tools aimed at directly serving the consumers (Business to Consumer -B2C legal tech) and tools aimed at making the lawyers' work easier (Business to Business - B2B legal tech).

B2C legal tech refers to tools designed to provide legal services and information directly to consumers without requiring the involvement of a legal intermediary. Examples of B2C legal tech include Do-It-Yourself systems that enable individuals to generate legal documents automatically, online dispute resolution platforms, smart contracts, and legal apps that provide legal information or act as legal service marketplaces.

B2B legal tech, on the other hand, is a tool designed to streamline the work of legal professions by automating tasks. These tools are aimed at making the work of lawyers more efficient. Examples of B2B legal tech include legal research platforms, predictive analytics programs, case management systems, and legal practice management software.

This paper delves into B2C legal tech, and to begin with, the following section provides a summary of the underlying technology.

#### 1. Artificial intelligence and machine learning

Despite numerous studies on the subject, there is still no universally agreed-upon definition of AI. This is because AI is not a single technology but encompasses various disciplines and techniques, leading to different definitions open to subjective interpretation (Gasser & Almeida, 2017; Weiyu & Keng, 2018; Buiten, 2019). The constant evolution of AI adds to this ambiguity, along with the fact that there are different notions of what constitutes intelligence (Berryhill et al., 2019), 2019; Buiten, 2019). This has led some scholars to argue that it is impossible to capture the essence of AI in a single definition (Linarelli, 2022).

Harry Surden (2019) defines AI as using technology to automate tasks that typically need human intelligence (p. 1307). This definition underscores the ability of AI to replicate human cognitive abilities. Yongjun Xu et al. (2021) frame AI differently, referring to AI as the simulation of human intelligence by a system or machine (p.1). AI does not merely replicate human processes but uses algorithms for computational cognition. It employs computational mechanisms to produce intelligent results typically associated with humans using cognitive abilities such as learning, reasoning, decision-making, problem-solving, and creativity (Kühl et al., 2022; Collins *et al.*, 2021; Surden, 2019).

The Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) provides a definition that forty-two countries have accepted. It defines AI as machine-based systems that, when provided with a set of human-defined objectives, can make recommendations, decisions, and predictions that influence real and virtual environments. These autonomous systems perform human-like cognitive functions (Berryhill *et al.*, 2019; OECD, 2019). The definition adopted by the OECD concentrates on the functional aspects of AI.

AI mainly falls into the following three broad categories.

### i). Rules or logic-based approach

This is AI based on rules that represent underlying knowledge or logic. The designers translate experts' knowledge into formal rules that a computer can process, allowing users to receive an automated output based on the encoded knowledge (Surden, 2019; Berryhill et al., 2019). Rules-based systems apply principles and rules to a given situation (Alessa, 2022) and they have a high level of interpretability and explainability (Berryhill et al. 2019).

In legal tech, legal information is organized into individual pieces of data and stored in nodes within decision trees. These nodes are linked to each other based on a logical set of rules, which makes this type of AI suitable for formalizing legal principles and terms (Parycek et al., 2023).

Since rules-based systems use predetermined rules to solve problems and make decisions, they are considered suitable for law. However, these systems are limited by the rules they have been programmed with and therefore cannot adapt to new situations (Parycek et al., 2023). If a situation is unusual or exceptional, writing rules becomes complex. Additionally, once the rules are written, they do not evolve to reflect new conditions or constraints (Berryhill et al. 2019). Therefore, this lack of adaptability and autonomy makes it difficult for them to be used in complex legal situations that require consideration of circumstances and context, potentially leading to a rigid, one-size-fits-all outcome. Despite these limitations, rules or logic-based approaches are popular as they offer certainty and control and remove ambiguity in the outcome. In legal tech, they are primarily used in automating routine tasks that require consistency and standardization.

#### ii). Learning-based approach: machine learning

Machine learning is the predominant approach in artificial intelligence, where algorithms learn by detecting patterns in data and then use the pattern to perform different tasks (Berryhill et al. 2019). Surden (2019) depicts this as an ever-evolving process where the system improves with more exposure to data, becoming more sophisticated with better automated decision-making abilities. In legal tech, data patterns can be derived from precedent, legal documents, and templates, enabling predictive analytics in litigation or facilitating automated legal drafting. Machine learning is categorized into supervised and unsupervised (Kühl et al., 2022). On the one hand, supervised machine learning involves algorithms using prespecified attributes to determine the desired outcome and performance. In this case, the human acts as a teacher. Supervised learning is useful when a problem has been clearly defined, with a clear outcome and sufficient information on its structure and data. On the other hand, unsupervised learning works without a target attribute. It identifies patterns using unlabeled data without human involvement. Unsupervised learning is useful for discovering patterns, commonalities, and relationships in data (Alloghani et al., 2020; Kühl et al., 2022; Berryhill et al. 2019).

In legal tech, both supervised and unsupervised machine learning have their benefits. Supervised learning is useful when the desired outcome is established, and the machine must learn how to achieve it. Therefore, it can predict legal outcomes based on established parameters or applied to tasks such as document classification or contract analysis where the desired outcome is already known. On the other hand, unsupervised learning is valuable when the desired outcome is unknown, and the machine needs to identify patterns in the data. It can help identify patterns in large volumes of legal data, which may be helpful in legal research, predictive analytics, and fraud detection.

In his OECD paper, Jamie Berryhill et al. (2019) introduce two additional forms of machine learning: reinforcement learning and deep learning. Reinforcement learning involves the computer (agent) learning to complete a task by interacting with the environment. As it interacts with the environment, it learns through trial and error where the environment provides feedback by punishing errors and rewarding successes. The agent then adjusts its behavior over time. This type of machine learning has been used to create self-trained robots. In legal tech, it can be used to develop advanced legal research tools. For example, an AI agent could learn to navigate an extensive legal database and improve its search capabilities based on feedback, enabling it to find more relevant case law or statutes with time. The limitations of reinforcement learning lie in the fact that the process of defining the agent, environment, rewards, and outcomes requires extensive expertise and resources.

On the other hand, the biology of human brains inspires deep learning, and it uses Artificial Neural Networks (ANN) to mimic the mechanisms of the human brain neurons using math. ANN has three layers: input, hidden, and output. Each layer contains neurons that hold information in the form of a number. All layers are interlinked and share information through mathematical functions.

Deep learning is used to imitate human style in various forms, including painting, drawing, music, and video creation, as well as the creation of deep fakes. The challenge lies in the fact that it is not fully explainable, and it is not clear how it truly works. This raises concerns about accountability in legal contexts.

#### iii). Natural Language Processing (NLP)

Situated at the intersection of AI and linguistics, NLP emerges as a discipline that enables machines to comprehend, analyze, and process human language (Khurana et al., 2023; Torfi et al., 2020). At the core of NLP lies the ability to convert written and spoken language into numeric representations that computers can interpret (Nay, 2018). This process is known as encoding and is the foundation upon which NLP builds its capabilities.

By teaching computers linguistic rules and symbols, NLP enables them to understand statements and words written in human language (Kurana et al., 2023). The potential of NLP in legal technology lies in its ability to convert legalese into a computational format that allows legal tech tools to understand and interpret legal texts.

AI complemented by NLP drives the underlying technology for most legal tech discussed in the section below.

# B. A review of legal tech tools

This sub-section discusses the practical application of the above-mentioned technologies in B2C legal tech.

# 1. Document automation and assembly

Legal document automation and assembly uses software to generate documents based on a series of questions (Achachlouei et al., 2021). Specifically, legal concepts are modeled into rules that give instructions of the 'If' condition 'Then' conclusion type, verifying certain conditions resulting in set conclusions (Carneiro et al., 2014; Alessa, 2022).

The analytical architecture behind the technology uses a logical, rules-based approach (Kerikmae et al., 2018), which can be conceptualized as a decision tree. Legal document automation draws from knowledge repositories and reasoning mechanisms derived from a set of rules. These rules are the foundation of legal document templates, which are then converted into interview questions (Achachlouei et al., 2021). Users respond to these questions, and based on their answers, the system utilizes the knowledge base and assembly configuration to generate legal documents automatically. This final document includes phrases, words, and clauses already programmed and triggered by the answers provided (Alessa, 2022; Navas, 2019; Achachlouei et al., 2021).

One example of this application is LegalZoom, a US-based company offering interactive legal documents through a threestep process. Shipman (2019) and McClure (2017) explain that in the first step, a customer selects a document he or she wishes to complete. LegalZoom then prompts the customer to begin filling out an online questionnaire that uses conditional, rules-based logic. This logic personalizes questions based on the customer's responses through the 'If' (condition) and 'Then' (action) decision tree. In the second step, LegalZoom employees review the answers for spelling, grammar, and completeness. Finally, the software creates a final document customized for the customer's jurisdiction. The system then automatically notifies the customer of the status of their document.

Similarly, South Africa-based JusDraft provides a legal document automation software that uses rules-based, logic-driven questions where the answers determine the next question. As one answers the questions, the legal document is drafted in real time, where the software inserts, removes, or modifies clauses based on the answers provided by the user.

Legal document automation and assembly create convenience, make basic legal documents readily available, and are more affordable than conventional legal services. However, it has its limitations as a substitute for legal expertise. One of its major drawbacks is its deterministic nature. Using preset clauses and phrases limits contextual perspective and takes a one-size-fitsall approach. While this may work for simple legal documents, it is unsuitable for contexts requiring legal reasoning and interpretation. In addition, translating legal rules into standardized templates could dilute the importance of legal expertise that seasoned lawyers bring to the table, as some aspects of law cannot be fully captured in a standardized template.

#### 2. Online Dispute Resolution (ODR)

Online Dispute Resolution (ODR) refers to using technology to assist individuals in preventing and resolving disputes (Alessa, 2022). ODR platforms offer a way to settle conflicts that arise online using digital or electronic methods without going to court (Andreae, 2015). These platforms are modeled after traditional Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) mechanisms like arbitration, negotiation, mediation, and early neutral evaluation (Balcha, 2022).

ODR platforms utilize AI in either a supportive or substantive role. The supportive use of AI involves augmenting the arbitrator's or mediator's work by utilizing algorithms to calculate compensation levels, developing a nominal solution, acting as a knowledge repository supported by intelligent search engines, and providing intelligent interface systems that use NLP to bridge communication gaps. On the other hand, substantive AI in ODR involves the technology taking on the role of a mediator or arbitrator. For example, case reasoning conducts an analysis of the provided data and applies it to the present case or uses a rules-based system to apply a set of principles and rules to the case (Alessa, 2022).

ODR platforms are designed to provide the public with new avenues for resolving disputes, increasing access to justice, and enabling faster and more affordable dispute resolution (Schmitz, 2022; Ebner & Greenberg, 2020). However, one drawback is their limited ability to handle complex dispute-resolution situations, especially in cases where substantive AI is used as the mediator or arbitrator. It can be argued that algorithm-driven decision-making lacks human empathy, context awareness, and ethical considerations.

Barnett and Treleaven (2018) divide ODR into three categories: consumer ODR, judicial ODR, and corporate ODR.

### i). Consumer ODR

Consumer ODR uses technology to resolve disputes between online suppliers and customers, predominantly using e-commerce platforms. E-commerce mainly applies Multi-agent Systems (MAS) as the primary mode of operation. MAS is a distributed AI combining problem-solving techniques with computational models that mimic human conciliation. It comprises a group of entities (hardware and software) that make intelligent decisions to achieve a common goal based on information shared in the system. These entities represent parties in a negotiated settlement by proposing a solution and then suggesting it to the parties in the dispute (Carneiro et al., 2014).

Examples of global consumer ODR platforms include eBay Dispute Resolution Centre, PayPal ODR System, Facebook, and

Instagram Commerce Manager. eBay Dispute Resolution Centre is one of the pioneering consumer ODR platforms and today it is one of the largest handling sixty million disputes annually (Tsurel et al.,2020; Schmitz, 2022; University of Missouri, 2020).

To better understand how consumer ODR works, eBay's Dispute Resolution Centre provides a good example. A user initiates the process by logging the dispute in the resolution center. The resolution center will conduct preliminary diagnostics to determine eligibility for the dispute. The center will then present the proposed resolutions and request the parties to communicate through eBay's internal messaging system to resolve the issue. If a mutual agreement has not been reached after three business days, the claimant may escalate the matter to the resolution center for an evaluation. The resolution center will appoint an arbitrator who will make the final decision. Throughout this process, the seller and buyer maintain an open communication channel via eBay messages. These conversations are then made available to the arbitrator, as they provide crucial information that can help determine the final resolution (Tsurel et al., 2020; University of Missouri, 2020).

Consumer ODR has varying levels of applicability in different regions. In Africa, Consumer ODR is still in its early stages despite the presence of e-commerce giants like Jumia. Furthermore, as Faith Anyantayo (2023) has pointed out, there are no laws related to ODR in the different African jurisdictions. The lack of an ODR legal framework creates uncertainty over the legal status of ODR processes and outcomes. It raises concerns about the enforceability or recognition of ODR results by the law. In addition, the legal gap could leave consumers vulnerable to abuses during the ODR process.

#### ii). Judicial ODR

Judicial ODR is the out-of-court settlement of judicial disputes with the help of technology (Rule, 2015; Schmitz, 2022). An example of such a platform is Washtenaw County Michigan Online Traffic Pleading. The platform has several features that make it a highly effective tool for resolving traffic violation cases. Users can plead their cases in their own words and from the convenience of their homes. Cases that qualify for mediation are adjusted to impeding traffic. The system also filters out individuals with more than a certain number of traffic violations in the past three to five years, those with traffic accidents, those related to school buses, and more severe infractions. Such cases are referred to the court, along with individuals who opt out of the ODR. The entire ODR process takes less than fifteen minutes and fifty percent of the users access the platform from their mobile phones (JTC, 2017).

According to a report by the Joint Technical Committee, the platform has benefited both the court system and citizens. For one, cases are resolved quickly, and parties pay fines faster and more consistently, leading to fewer default judgments. The court benefits from lower administrative costs, reducing the time spent by traffic police attending court. Citizens do not have to take time away from work or other obligations to attend court, making the process convenient. Before the introduction of this platform, fifty-one percent of fines were paid within thirty days, but after its implementation, this figure has increased to ninety-seven percent (JTC,2017).

Another example is Money Claim Online(MCOL), an internet-based service that provides a platform for individuals or businesses to make or respond to a money claim with a limit of up to one hundred thousand British Pounds. Once registered, the claimant will provide the details of the defendant and all the necessary information about the claim. A fee is required for this service, which is based on the amount being claimed. The defendant has fourteen days from the issue date to respond to the claim. Once the defense has been received, the MCOL system will enter and confirm a judgment. If the debtor cannot pay the total amount claimed, they can negotiate with the claimant. However, if the claimant is not satisfied with the outcome of the negotiations, the case will be referred to a mediator or local county court.

The Official Injury Claims Portal is a similar platform launched in May 2021 by the UK Ministry of Justice. The portal aims to simplify the process for road accident claims involving accidents with values of up to five thousand British Pounds and total losses not exceeding ten thousand British Pounds. This online platform is free and designed to facilitate road accident compensation without the need for legal representation. As of September 2023, a House of Commons Justice Committee report reveals that five hundred and eighty-four thousand, two hundred and fourteen claims have been submitted through this portal.

The claimant logs details of their claim, which are then submitted to the relevant insurance company. The insurance company will conduct its investigations. In addition, the claimant must submit relevant medical reports if there is an injury. The insurance company, after finishing its investigation, will arrange for compensation. The portal provides regular updates and notifications to the claimants.

The platform offers claimants a self-help tool that makes the claims process faster, convenient, and cheaper. However, a critical system examination reveals that it has not fully achieved its objectives. The September 2023 House of Commons report reveals that ninety percent of claimants still use legal representatives when submitting their claims. In addition, a backlog of three hundred and forty-nine thousand claims has not been settled within the portal, with an average settlement taking up to two hundred and fifty-one days. The continued reliance on lawyers has been attributed to two things. One is the lack of awareness and understanding of the use of the portal. The second is that the legal aspects of injury claims can be complex. Therefore, claimants still prefer to use a lawyer to ensure proper representation and maximize their compensation. While the Global South has not yet widely adopted judicial ODR platforms, the examples mentioned above can be used as case studies to assess the viability of implementing similar solutions.

The strength of Judicial ODR lies in its cost-effectiveness, speed, and convenience compared to the traditional court system. Yet, as shown by the challenges faced by the Official Injury Claims Portal, it might not be able to handle all the intricacies inherent in judicial disputes. Therefore, despite its merits, the complete replacement of human intervention remains questionable. While the judicial ODR process can handle certain matters, others will require lawyer involvement, suggesting a symbiotic relationship rather than a complete replacement of lawyers.

# iii). Corporate ODR

Corporate ODR is where parties to major commercial projects and financial transactions use algorithmic mediated solutions as an alternative to arbitration and litigation. The ODR mediation channel is captured in the contract and agreed upon before the project or transaction starts (Barnett & Treleaven, 2018).

According to Barnett & Treleaven (2018), corporate ODR mediation algorithms are not designed to determine who is right or wrong, and neither do they seek to know where the truth lies. Instead, their primary aim is to reduce the conflict into areas of consensus in order to arrive at a win-win situation. This approach raises concerns about whether such platforms can adequately account for the multi-faceted interests of multiple parties and guarantee fairness.

To understand this, we will use an illustration provided by Barnett and Treleaven (2018) on corporate ODR using blockchain technology. In this case, the parties, from the onset, agree to use automated ODR based on smart contracts. All documents related to the transaction will be recorded in the blockchain distributed ledger repository. In the event of a dispute and in a bid to save time, the parties will use the smart contract mechanisms where the blockchain is used to assess the needs and interests of each party and then seek to discover the best or worst alternative. The aim is to find consensus and provide a win-win outcome.

From this example, the dispute is not resolved based on the merits of the case or in a bid to establish truth. Although this approach is efficient and saves time, it can lead to unjust outcomes. Justice is fundamentally connected to truth, as there is no justice without truth. Therefore, the dispute resolution process should not only focus on mediating disputes but also aim to seek truth and ensure fairness.

### 3. Legal chatbots

Chatbots underpinned by NLP have emerged as conversational agents due to their ability to communicate in a manner that resembles human conversations (Bartenberger et al., 2018; Hasal, 2021). Their cognitive abilities enable them to understand, reason, and answer questions, allowing the end user to chat with the bot or speak without writing any text (Navas, 2019).

Chatbots utilize either generative machine learning or rules-based logic that runs on AI. Rules-based chatbots employ a retrievable model that responds with predetermined answers based on the questions posed by the user. On the other hand, generative chatbots use machine learning algorithms that enable them to offer more sophisticated answers, learning from experience and iterative interactions (Badescu, 2021). ChatGPT is a well-known example of a generative AI-based chatbot.

In Africa, some legal tech tools have integrated chatbot functionalities. Legal Fundi based in South Africa, for example, uses a legal chatbot advisor called Maya to offer assistance in various legal matters. According to an answer provided by Maya, she is a legal advisor and educator whose role is to provide legal advice, explain legal concepts in simple terms, and help individuals understand their rights and responsibilities under the law. Another well-known legal tech that uses chatbot functionalities is DoNotPay. DoNotPay was founded in 2015 and originally termed itself as the 'world's first robot lawyer.' Currently, it is available in the United States and the United Kingdom and its AI chatbot provides legal advice and assistance using NLP and machine learning algorithms. It facilitates the drafting of courtready documents, outlines the users' rights, and offers a legal argument to support the case (Navas,2019; Classaction, 2023).

Legal chatbots are also used in legal apps which can be categorized based on their functions. One category includes apps that aim at providing users with general legal information in an easy-to-understand format. An example of such an app is South African-based LegalMate. The app provides users with information on their legal rights in different situations, including but not limited to police searches, civic protests, and roadblocks. The key is to provide crucial legal knowledge quickly, empowering the user to make informed decisions and respond appropriately.

The second category is apps that connect users with lawyers and facilitate client-lawyer interactions. An example is the South African-based Lawyer in Your Pocket, which leverages WhatsApp to connect users with lawyers for instant legal advice. If a user requires more specialized legal work, the platform provides a list of legal specialists with a range of quotes for their services.

The third category is apps, which aim to provide a wide range of legal support by bundling various services into one platform. An example is LawBite, which focuses on providing affordable legal services for businesses. Users can subscribe to the platform at a fixed price and interact with lawyers in real time through instant messaging. They can also manage their legal documents, get no-obligation quotes at a fixed price, and handle all legal matters on the platform. The process is straightforward: users start by raising an inquiry, after which the app connects them to an expert for a free consultation. The user can receive extensive legal services upon mutual agreement if needed.

While legal chatbots offer quick and cost-effective solutions to various legal issues, the intricacies of law may sometimes necessitate human intervention. When a chatbot guides an individual through legal procedures, questions naturally arise on the reliability and accuracy of the advice provided. These concerns were highlighted in the March 2023 case of Faridan v DoNot-Pay, Inc. filed in the District Court for the Northern District of California. The plaintiff, Faridan, accused DoNotPay of providing unusable, substandard legal documents that contained inaccurate information (Pacheco, 2023). In this case, Faridan used DoNotPay to perform several legal tasks, including drafting a demand letter, contractor agreement, operating agreement, and small claims court filing. Faridan believed he was purchasing legal documents and services equivalent to those provided by a competent lawyer. However, the services were substandard, the documents were inaccurate and poorly done, and the demand letter was blank (Classaction, 2023). At the time of writing, the case was still ongoing in court.

Without a doubt, chatbots, especially when used in mobile apps, signify a shift in the legal field by offering not only accessibility but also unmatched user convenience. The transformative nature of real-time legal advice and insights and the ease of accessing it through a handheld device cannot be understated. However, it is crucial to exercise prudence. Apps, especially those that offer general legal information, must be frequently updated to maintain the accuracy and relevance of their content.

In addition, using chatbots and apps for legal advice raises a critical question on data privacy and ethical concerns. It is crucial to consider to what extent legal ethics and considerations come into play or can be embedded into the underlying algorithms. Entrusting sensitive legal information to chatbots necessitates the need to have stringent measures to safeguard this information from potential breach and misuse. Any data security compromise could have significant repercussions, given the confidential nature of legal matters. The question remains on whether chatbots can guarantee the same level of discretion and confidentiality that a human lawyer is ethically bound to uphold.

### IV. CHALLENGES AND LIMITATIONS OF LEGAL TECH

In the previous part of this paper, the author highlights various legal tech applications and their importance, focusing on those with AI capabilities. However, there are specific challenges and limitations that these legal techs face in their quest to meet the diverse legal requirements of consumers. This part of the paper, therefore, explores and discusses these drawbacks.

# A. Logical gaps and complex and unstructured legal issues

Often, legal matters are complex and require a tailor-made approach that factors in the unique circumstances of each case. While automated documentation and assembly or logic and rules-based approaches can handle routine and standardized legal processes, they are limited in addressing complex, unstructured legal matters and unanticipated contingencies (Remus & Levy, 2017).

Brescia et al. (2015) highlight that these technologies typically employ a generic approach. This generalized approach gives them a deterministic nature, which is not ideal for unique legal matters that require distinguishing.

Legal practice is far more intricate than just generating a legal document. Central to legal practice lies legal argument and reasoning, which cannot be simplified into a legal tech solution. Legal argumentation and reasoning arise from thoroughly analyzing the interplay between facts and law. Translating this analysis into a form understandable to nonlawyers presents a complex task that is still beyond the current capabilities of machines (Remus & Levy, 2017).

Frankenreiter Nyarko (2023) illustrates this using the example of outcome prediction. For a lawyer to predict the outcome of a case, they must examine both the facts of the case and the law, both of which will be in unstructured text. For facts, the lawyer will receive statements from the client, witness depositions, and any relevant supporting documents. For the law, the lawyer will refer to statutes, regulations, precedents, legal treaties, and different legal principles. Only after analyzing the facts against the law and understanding the circumstances surrounding the matter can the lawyer predict an outcome and determine the way forward. This form of reasoning is a human art of lawyering that is yet to be replicated by machines (Webb, 2020).

Legal ontology presents a challenge when translating legal terms and their interconnected meanings into algorithms (Frankenreiter & Nyarko, 2023). Many legal terms have meanings steeped in legal doctrine and theory, making translating them into binary format difficult. Legal terminologies are more than words; they encompass intricate legal theories and principles that cannot be easily reduced into algorithmic logic.

For instance, the legal principle of the reasonable person in tort law evaluates how a hypothetical reasonable person of ordinary prudence would have acted in a particular circumstance. It posits that a reasonable person should have known what would have been reasonable in that situation (Votruba, 2013; Mullender, 2005). To understand what reasonable means within the context of this principle, one would need to evaluate human behavior, common sense, societal norms, and the circumstances surrounding the case. Encoding such a principle with all its nuances into algorithms is not simple. Therefore, determining what is reasonable in a legal matter is best left to human judgment and legal professionals rather than an algorithm. According to Frankenreiter and Nyarko (2023), although there have been attempts to derive legal ontologies from AI tools, such attempts have not been successful.

In their paper, van Noordwijk and De Mulder (2022) assert that algorithms cannot think outside the box. Algorithms typically train on specific data sets, which often contain historical legal data. However, the law evolves. A new court ruling can drastically alter the interpretation of legal terms, and algorithms may struggle to adapt without constant updates to their datasets.

For example, consider the challenge of teaching an algorithm to distinguish a new case from previous ones, mainly when it involves a groundbreaking judicial decision that necessitates a different form of learning. A database of judgments would be required to accomplish this, including cases where prior rulings were overturned and new precedents. The algorithm would then need to identify specific characteristics that indicate a fundamental shift in legal interpretation, signaling the need for a different approach. However, creating such datasets can be difficult, and there may be limited data to train the AI effectively. As a result, algorithms cannot detect and anticipate the need for significant adaptations when a transformative legal development occurs (van Noordwijk & De Mulder, 2022).

In light of the foregoing, Pasquale (2018) raises a pertinent concern, arguing that with these limitations, legal tech can potentially undermine the rule of law by trivializing or ignoring essential aspects of law, especially in complex legal cases.

### B. The unauthorized practice of law and the ethical dilemma

The use of B2C legal tech has sparked a debate on whether such technologies engage in the unauthorized practice of law (Tai, 2021; Brescia et al., 2015; Yoon, 2023). Central to this debate is the balance between the ability of legal tech to enable legal and justice inclusion while ensuring it meets the minimum standards of the legal profession.

Legal cases have emerged where legal tech platforms have been accused of engaging in the unauthorized practice of law. For instance, in a 2011 LegalZoom case, the court held that the service provided by the platform went beyond document provision and involved non-attorney employees intervening at different stages and, therefore, constituted unauthorized practice of law. Similarly, in the ongoing case of *Faridian v DoNotPay*, one of the issues filed before the court concerns the unauthorized practice of law by DoNotPay. In the case, Faridan alleged that DoNotPay violated the California Unfair Competition Law by representing itself as a lawyer and offering legal services without a license. Faridan argued that despite DoNotPay's self-description as the world's first robot lawyer, it is not a robot, a lawyer, or a law firm. In addition, DoNotPay does not possess a law degree, nor is it authorized to practice law in any jurisdiction, nor is it supervised by a lawyer.

As previously mentioned, several countries in the Global South have regulations governing the practice of law, including restrictions against unqualified and unlicensed individuals from offering legal services. Although these regulations have been criticized for promoting monopolies, protectionism, and exclusivity, they play a vital role in safeguarding the public against unethical behavior and malpractices while upholding the integrity of the legal system (Remus & Levy, 2017).

Philips J noted in *Cornell v Nagle 1995* that legal practice must be exclusively limited to those adequately trained in law and have the necessary expertise to protect the public. These entry barriers ensure a minimum standard of service and safeguard the interests of consumers of legal services. Within the legal profession, malpractices result in disciplinary action. However, the use of B2C legal tech presents a unique challenge. It prompts one to contemplate whether the same disciplinary measures can be applied to software, especially in the light of machine learning algorithms, which are constantly evolving (Markovic, 2019).

Additionally, the very nature of machine learning entails iterative learning and adaptation. Ethical dilemmas arise when AI, in the process of learning, experiments with different legal strategies on clients without their knowledge. This phenomenon raises important questions about protecting the client and whether traditional ethical rules can be applied in such cases (Pasquale, 2018). All these involve consideration regarding the ethical dimensions of technology-driven legal services, the protection of its users, and the adaptability of traditional ethical frameworks to this evolving legal ecosystem.

### C. Lack of quality assurance

'Nearly every week, a new report of algorithmic misbehavior emerges' (Kearns & Roth, 2020). This statement demonstrates the growing concerns raised by the lack of rigorous, independent analysis of AI systems (Davis, 2020).

At the heart of these concerns lies the issue of data. Data is AI's lifeblood, and AI systems' output is only as good as the data they have been fed. Inaccurate or incomplete data, anomalies, algorithmic errors, and data reflecting societal or historical inequalities can lead to biased or incorrect outputs (Nithesh, 2022; Wakunuma et al., 2022; Practical Law, 2023). If the dataset of AI models has issues, even the most advanced systems will produce results that can be misleading and detrimental at best. Legal tech built on flawed datasets can harm the user more than it can help, rendering them worse off than if they had never used the technology in the first place.

Beyond data is the issue of human interpretation. Brescia et al. (2015) warn of the dangers of interpretational risk, where nonlawyers may misinterpret AI-generated legal guidance, causing more harm than good in the long run. For example, specific legal terminologies and principles have their roots in centuries of legal doctrine. Terminologies such as good faith, fiduciary, ultra vires, negligence, and proximate cause, among many others, represent intricate legal theories and principles. Interpretation of such terms is very contextual, and one must consider the facts and the circumstances at hand, including but not limited to precedent. Therefore, AI-generated legal guidance must be cautiously approached, considering the need to be cognizant of underlying legal ontology. One of the most significant obstacles in the quality assurance of legal tech is the absence of transparency. Andrada et al. (2022) categorize this lack of transparency into two: the transparency of human practices involved in designing, developing, and implementing AI systems and the transparency of the algorithms themselves.

The opaque or black-box nature of AI's inner workings is one of its most concerning aspects. It makes understanding how AI generates its output difficult and reduces the ability to contest AI decisions (Rodrigues, 2020; Brand, 2022). Adding to this complexity is AI's propensity to adapt, learn, and evolve, which further adds to its opacity, making it difficult to predict its decisions (Nithesh, 2022; Ellul, 2021). All these factors complicate quality control and any attempts to oversee legal tech applications.

#### D. Legal liability

Legal technology presents various challenges surrounding liability, particularly regarding accountability and responsibility. Legal technology provides a legal service, and if the underlying technology, code, or algorithm is flawed or malfunctions, it can result in unintended harm or undesirable consequences. This raises important questions about who should be responsible for any resulting damages. These concerns pivot around three primary actors: the underlying technology, the developers, and the end-users.

Navas (2019, p. 94) and Ebers (2020, p. 6) underscore the accountability challenge. Regarding algorithms, it becomes unclear who is liable for any resulting damages. This lack of clarity could leave the user exposed and without adequate legal protection.

Certain practices in the industry worsen this vulnerability. A review of terms and conditions on legal tech websites reveals that they include disclaimers, warranties, limitation of liability, and indemnification clauses. These clauses transfer the risk of errors, losses, claims, and expenses, including attorney's fees, to the clients. In professional ethics, a licensed human lawyer is obligated to take responsibility when things go awry. However, these online platforms do not assume any responsibility. Instead, they attempt to shift accountability to their clients through clauses that transfer to the user the risks of any adverse outcomes that may occur during their interaction (Navas, 2019; Pasquale, 2018). This approach starkly contrasts with established standards of responsibility within the legal profession.

The self-learning nature of autonomous algorithms introduces another layer of complexity to the liability discourse. Establishing a causal link in instances where algorithms have learned autonomously is a challenge yet to be definitively addressed. It prompts questions on what legal standards should apply to legal tech systems. Should the courts develop a reasonable machine doctrine like the reasonable man on the street principle?

In addition, there is a significant knowledge gap regarding lawyers and judicial personnel who understand how the underlying technology drives legal tech operations. This knowledge gap would be a challenge in any litigation case attempting to address the legal liability of legal technologies.

Entwined into all these is the debate on AI personhood. The legal status of AI systems has raised questions on whether they should be granted legal personhood or treated as tools under the control of their users.

Currently, AI systems are viewed as products of human intellect and cannot be held legally responsible (Bertolini, 2020). As a result, accountability and liability can only be attributed to natural or legal persons (Gervais, 2021). The European Parliament's Committee on Legal Affairs proposed granting advanced autonomous AI systems legal personhood (Kurki, 2019), similar to how non-human entities like corporations are recognized in the law (Gervais, 2021). Granting legal personhood would enable these systems to have legal status as electronic personalities. However, it is essential to note that non-human legal entities, such as corporations, are ultimately controlled by humans who program their actions based on human interests and obligations. The same applies to AI systems. If an AI-driven technology is law-abiding, a human understood the applicable laws and programmed these rules into the AI's algorithms (Gervais, 2021).

This brings the discussion to another matter regarding the regulation of legal tech. Currently, there are no substantive laws on the use of legal tech in providing legal services. The lack of proper regulation creates a widening regulatory gap as legal tech plays an increasingly significant role in the legal sector (Davis, 2020).

To safeguard the public and maintain ethical standards in legal services, it is crucial to regulate technology-based legal services in the same manner as traditional legal services. For example, regulations regarding the accuracy of legal advice provided, regulations on accountability and liability of legal tech providers, confidentiality obligations, and quality control measures. Such regulation ensures that legal technology adheres to specific standards and does not downplay or hide critical legal issues behind a user-friendly interface that attempts to replace a human lawyer.

Since AI powers much of legal tech, discussions about regulating legal technology inevitably touch on current debates about regulating AI. At the time of writing this paper, no established legal framework regulating artificial intelligence operations existed. While non-binding guidelines, codes of practice, and quasi-legal standards exist, they are primarily principle-based and self-regulated (Yap & Lim, 2022; Ienia & Vayena, 2020). Some countries, such as Canada and China, and regional blocks, such as the European Union, are moving towards a hard law approach by developing AI laws to bridge the regulatory gap (Smuha, 2021; Gervais LLP, 2022; Shen & Liu, 2022; Burri & Bothner, 2021). However, this transition is not happening uniformly across the world. Economically developed countries are significantly ahead in this discourse compared to Global South countries, where discussions regarding the regulation of AI are still in their nascent stages.

### E. The invaluable role of lawyers

The emergence of legal tech has led to a rather widely deliberated matter of whether technology will replace lawyers. While Markovic (2019) underscores that lawyers fulfill a multifaceted role that technology cannot easily replace, an analysis reveals different aspects that merit consideration.

The debate surrounding technology's potential to replace lawyers is neither new nor a passing phenomenon, as it has been going on for decades. A quick online search yields numerous articles predicting the rise of robot lawyers. In some instances, the discussion paints a dystopian future where AI annihilates several professions, with the legal profession consistently highlighted as ripe for significant disruption.

Examining this from the perspective of Moravec's (1998) Paradox, which holds that computers excel at tasks that humans find difficult, such as advanced computations and abstract reasoning, but struggle with basic sensorimotor tasks that humans find easy, such as picking an object. Based on this, some argue that considering legal practice often involves high-level abstract reasoning, it becomes a profession susceptible to automation (Mckamey, 2017).

The OECD's 2023 Employment Outlook underscores this view. In its second chapter, Stijn Broecke highlights the increasing influence of AI on highly skilled jobs such as law, science, engineering, and business, which have experienced marked exposure to recent AI advancements.

While such predictions have persisted, they do not necessarily mean an immediate existential risk to the legal profession. Predicting the future, especially in areas as dynamic as technology and as intricate as law, is fraught with speculation. Rather than witness a sudden apocalyptic-like transformation, the change is evolutionary, characterized by nuanced, iterative advancements. This paper underscores that the legal field is already in the midst of this transformation, with technology steadily weaving its way into the legal fabric, ushering incremental disruption and reshaping it over time.

As discussed earlier, the attraction of legal tech lies in its ability to offer cheaper, faster, and more accessible legal solutions compared to the conventional legal services provided by human lawyers. Undoubtedly, this transformation will disrupt the legal profession as services that historically were provided by human practitioners fall under the domain of AI-driven legal tech and blockchain-enabled technology.

However, a more critical examination of this shift reveals that the most susceptible to technological intervention tend to be legal tasks of a simpler, routine, and easily mechanized nature. This indicates that there is likely a potential reduction in demand for certain traditional services that lawyers have provided. However, this reduction does not equal the complete replacement of lawyers, as lawyers play a role that technology cannot easily do.

Firstly, as mentioned earlier in this paper, lawyers do much more than just the routine task of filling legal forms, drafting legal documents, or going to court (Brescia, 2023b; Pasquale, 2018). Certain aspects of legal practice require human interaction, emotional intelligence, and legal discernment, which are skills that cannot be automated.

Secondly, the characteristics of legal problems vary, and the complexity needed to address a legal issue will depend on the matter. Legal issues are as diverse and as complex as human beings themselves. Some issues are straightforward and only need essential legal expertise, while others are more intricate and demanding. As Brescia (2023b) explains, when a client seeks legal help, the lawyer's first step is to assess the facts and determine the level of complexity. This assessment enables the lawyer to determine the necessary legal expertise and craft the best legal strategy to employ. Unfortunately, even with the most advanced legal technology currently available, it cannot conduct such an assessment and discern between a straightforward legal issue and one that is more complicated, a skill that a human lawyer possesses.

Consequently, while legal tech can provide information to clients, it cannot replace a lawyer's expertise who can personalize the case by carefully considering the facts and the client's goals (Navas, 2019).

Mather (2003) and Brescia (2023b) present a compelling argument. The lawyer-client dynamic is inherently social. Sometimes, clients do not know what they want and expect lawyers to guide them on what to do. Constructing a client's goal is a social process. The lawyer engages with the client and determines the issues, the stakes involved, and the legal alternatives, then translates complex legal terminology into ordinary language for the client. Guiding a client through this process needs interpersonal interaction. It is a skill that legal tech cannot do, challenging the concept of relying solely on technology for legal services.

Another role that lawyers play, which cannot be played by legal tech, is to discern the motive of a client's action and separate the wheat from the chaff. Lawyers act as gatekeepers. As Elihu Root declared, 'half the practice of a decent lawyer consists in telling clients that they are damned fools and should stop'. This means lawyers sometimes must tell their clients 'no' if their interest is to engage in unlawful, misguided, and illegitimate schemes, for example, filing a fraudulent claim. This involves advising the client on the consequences of their intended actions, declining work that would amount to illegality, and screening client claims for frivolity to promote judicial efficacy (Zacharia, 2004). Therefore, while legal tech represents a disruptive force in the legal field, it should not be perceived as a technology that threatens the existence of the profession. Instead, its existence necessitates an analysis of the symbiotic relationship between legal tech and traditional lawyering and a reflection on the evolving role of the lawyer.

#### F. Digital divide

The success of legal tech in Africa depends on its ability to penetrate all structures of society, and this can only be feasible if the intended end users have the necessary technological skills and resources. Unfortunately, accessing and using technology can be challenging, especially for low-income communities, the elderly, individuals with cognitive and physical disabilities, and those with digital illiteracy.

This is known as the digital divide. It is defined as the gap between those who can access and use technology and those who do not. Access means the availability of smartphones, computers, laptops, reliable internet, scanners, and printers, plus having the capacity to utilize the applicable technology (Brescia, 2023b; Sanders & Scanlon, 2021).

On the one hand, Africa boasts the fastest-growing market for mobile and internet usage. However, this progressive narrative is punctuated by underlying disparities, as Ogbo et al. (2021) explain. Sociodemographic and socioeconomic factors such as age, gender, education, poverty, and digital literacy create a digitally vulnerable population, which results in stark disparities in the utilization of technology. This vulnerable demographic often finds themselves on the periphery of the digital frontier and finds that technology alone cannot adequately meet their legal needs.

In 2021, only thirty-three percent of Africans had access to the Internet, which translates to eight hundred and seventy-one million individuals being cut off from digital benefits (Munga, 2022). For this population, the use of legal tech seems implausible. The poorest sector of the African populace, in particular, faces a significant challenge as the average cost of an internet-enabled device is one hundred and twenty percent more than their monthly earnings (Munga, 2022). Unfortunately, this group stands to gain a lot from legal tech solutions.

Cohil & Thomson (2008) supported by findings from the UK Parliament Justice Committee (2020), emphasize that conventional legal services directly delivered by a lawyer are more beneficial than digital self-help technologies for digitally vulnerable populations.

# V. THE WAY FORWARD

The legal services field is changing. This paper explores various applications of legal tech. In the preceding section, this paper also highlighted some of its limitations, which suggest that the role of lawyers cannot be eliminated. However, the legal field will likely continue to witness an evolution of legal roles with less emphasis on routine tasks and new patterns of legal services emerging. In light of these insights, the author offers the following recommendations.

# A. Technical competency of present and future lawyers

The impact of technology on the legal field necessitates both current and future lawyers to understand how technology interacts with the law.

Law schools play a critical role in leading the way in fostering a tech-savvy legal community. They have a role in instilling technological competencies and skills in their students, teaching them the various dimensions in which technology interacts with the law, its influence on legal practice, and its broader societal implications, and incorporating lessons on how to use these tools in the curriculum.

This is a compelling call to African universities. As they

equip students with legal knowledge, they must also equip the next generation of lawyers with the skills to navigate the evolving landscape. To achieve this, more African universities should consider designing and integrating courses on law and technology. This could include foundational courses for law students and modular training for seasoned legal professionals interested in updating their knowledge of law and tech.

Barczentewicz (2021) outlines four models for teaching legal tech in universities. The first is the basic proficiency model. In this model, students are provided with informational literacy on how to use legal research sites such as Westlaw and citation tools like Zotero. This can be incorporated into the Legal Research and Methodology modules.

The second is the advanced proficiency model. It includes an in-depth overview of legal tech and underlying technologies such as AI and blockchain. Beyond theory, it includes students engaging in critical thinking and analyzing philosophical aspects of technology, including moral and ethical considerations, plus the broader analysis of the implications of legal tech on the legal profession (Ryan,2021).

The third model involves an intensive study of technology. This model targets students seeking to work as legal engineers, legal technologists, and quantitative legal analysts. This entails an interdisciplinary approach and includes modules on coding, data analytics, argumentation theory, and computational models of legal reasoning.

The fourth is a specialized model where the university teaches only one aspect of technology, such as cybersecurity.

The first two models seem to be the most pragmatic choices for broad adoption. However, institutions that want to create a unique niche would consider offering the third model to cater to emerging roles such as legal engineers and legal technologists.

For all the above to succeed, universities will need to invest in building their academic staff's capacities to teach legal tech. Investment into research on legal tech and its impact on the law, legal practices, and the legal profession is closely related to teaching legal tech. As highlighted in the introductory section of this paper, academic studies on legal tech in Africa are scarce.

By engaging in rigorous academic exploration, researchers can gain invaluable insights into the legal tech landscape in Africa. Such an inquiry would include an examination of legal tech concepts and approaches, current trends, consideration of significant debates at the intersection of law and technology, technical aspects of legal tech, identification and analysis of various legal tech tools, and an evaluation of how legal practice engages with these tools.

The importance of such academic inquiry cannot be overstated. It would provide valuable insights into understanding how technology is shaping the legal sector in Africa, whether as tech for law or law for tech. Legal tech conferences, seminars, symposia, and hackathons would serve as essential platforms that facilitate the dissemination of knowledge and enable critical inquiry into the sector. Research into legal tech would contribute to a deeper understanding of its role in the future of the legal profession and practice across the continent. This, in turn, would help make lawyers future-ready.

Public awareness of legal tech is important to highlight its benefits and limitations. Such awareness would enable the public to make informed choices.

In this regard, Law Societies in Africa and academic institutions could play a crucial role in raising public literacy on legal tech. One approach to achieving this could be through organizing legal tech fairs in partnership with industry stakeholders. Hosting such events would create an ideal platform for legal tech firms to showcase their solutions to the public while simultaneously allowing the public to ask questions and gain more clarity on the subject. Academic institutions could also develop short online courses aimed at educating the public on topics such as the advantages and disadvantages of online legal services. Moreover, symposia and conferences could be organized, where the public could interact with legal tech experts. Additionally, hosting legal tech awareness months could be instrumental in raising awareness on the topic by organizing panel convenings, open debates, and tech demos during the month, serving as a concentrated period of creating awareness.

The aim would be for the public to better understand their rights as consumers, the options available, and the possible outcomes of using technology-based legal services. In addition, it will equip the public with the ability to discern when legal tech would be beneficial and where it may prove to be less advantageous or even counterproductive.

### B. Regulating legal tech

As previously seen, the legal profession is highly regulated for good reasons. One key aim of regulating lawyers is to protect the public from unscrupulous legal practices and safeguard the integrity of the justice system.

In the same way that legal services offered by lawyers are regulated, there is a need to have guiding principles or technical standards on the use of legal tech at a bare minimum. Such principles or standards would act as safeguards, guiding the appropriate use of legal tech while prioritizing the interests of the public. They would emphasize the responsible and ethical design, development, and implementation of legal tech solutions.

Webb (2020) insightfully observes that matters related to technology and regulation are not well understood in the legal sector. This has resulted in a lack of forward-thinking or a holistic approach to regulating technological innovations. One could attribute this to the commonly recognized pacing problem where regulatory frameworks lag behind technological advancements. Webb (2020), however, highlights that while responses to legal tech differ among regulators, many appear to have adopted a 'wait and see' approach, which means there is limited proactive work being done in this space.

Such a laissez-faire approach adopted by regulators to legal tech has risks. Spaulding (2023) warns of the dangers of unquestioningly entrusting design dynamics to unregulated engineers. He asserts that unwarranted faith in innovation might lead to lax regulations, and the hidden costs of such leniency might become apparent when it is too late.

Therefore, Law Societies in Africa must initiate dialogues and proactively formulate legal tech guiding principles or standards. By taking a leadership role, law societies can shape the direction of these principles or standards within their respective jurisdiction. Initiating this discourse is critical to ensuring that legal tech evolves responsibly and ethically.

This entails a multifaceted approach. Law Societies working alongside other legal service regulators need to develop a framework for legal tech regulation. They should actively engage with legal tech providers and the consumers of these services, establish technology advisory panels, and expand their member's technological knowledge base. In addition, collaboration between African Law Societies and Legal Service Regulators, facilitated by a regional intermediary, would be instrumental in shaping these guiding principles or standards.

Webb (2020) identifies other areas of consideration in legal tech regulation, including ensuring regulations do not create unnecessary barriers to innovation. In addition, re-assessing the adequacy of existing regulations in addressing new risks created by legal tech solutions, and exploring different models of regulation for tech solutions. He also stressed the importance of setting information governance and technology standards for legal practice and fostering regulatory conversations touching on innovation facilitated by regulatory sandboxes.

In a related discourse, a Smart Africa report on Blockchain in Africa, edited by Gakwaya et al. (2020), examined the merits of ex-post and ex-ante regulation strategies. On the one hand, the report argued that ex-post allows for an innovation-friendly environment as it freely allows innovation as long as specific guidelines and frameworks are in place. An example provided is Australia's endorsement of digital identification innovations. The regulator has allowed digital identification innovations on condition that a trusted digital identify framework backs them.

On the other hand, ex-ante regulatory strategies are characterized by more control by the regulators. They include requirements for innovators to register with the regulator, conditions such as pre-release certification, and regulatory audits. While this approach aims to reduce risks, it has been criticized for stifling innovation. Positioned between the two extremes is the concept of regulatory sandboxes, which offer a more balanced approach. Regulatory sandboxes have been discussed in more detail in the section below.

Building on Spaulding's (2023) guidelines for ODR regulation—which may be extrapolated to the broader legal tech field – includes ensuring precise opt-in mechanisms. In addition, there should be transparent disclosure and informed consent. Privacy and data protection safeguards should be in place. Legal tech providers should be required to publish the rules and designs of their systems. There is a need to develop precise heuristics for separating cases that are eligible for legal tech and those not eligible, plus regular reporting on the dissemination of performance data to monitor bias and errors.

### C. Legal tech innovation hubs and regulatory sandboxes

As mentioned, regulating legal services and restrictions on the unauthorized practice of law can be a barrier to legal tech.

Regulatory sandboxes and innovation hubs could help solve this issue and assist in nurturing legal innovation. Although not a new concept, innovation hubs would act as catalysts for technological advancements in the legal field. They would be instrumental in creating an environment that enables African legal entrepreneurs to ideate, develop, and refine legal tech solutions.

A critical aspect of innovation hubs is their potential to promote interdisciplinary collaboration between technology experts and legal practitioners (Chowdhury et al., 2023). This symbiotic collaboration would ensure that legal tech tools are better tailored to serve the public and conform with regulatory requirements.

Regulatory sandboxes, on the other hand, allow innovators and entrepreneurs to explore the possibilities of legal tech without fear of legal liability or accusations of unauthorized practice of law. These sandboxes are essential for introducing quality assurance processes like accuracy tests, technology security testing, and monitoring AI behavior during the learning phase before deploying the technology to the public (Allen, 2019; OECD, 2023).

As described by Simshaw (2023), a regulatory sandbox is a policy tool by which governments or regulatory bodies temporarily relax specific laws to enable an environment conducive to exploring innovative models, services, and products. Ford & Ashkenazy (2023) characterize it as a formalized policy instrument established by a regulatory authority and designed to create a controlled, safe playground for innovation. Such a space allows innovators to experiment and gain experience without the constraints of stringent rules.

Venturing into the mechanics of the sandbox, the process starts with a call for applications. The eligible applicants are selected and admitted into the sandbox. Once in the sandbox, they have a temporary safe harbor to innovate (Simshaw, 2023). While in the sandbox, participants work in a controlled environment where they must adhere to requirements such as data sharing and predefined scale limitations. Upon conclusion of the sandbox phase, the regulatory body undertakes an informed, data-driven examination of the outcomes. This evaluation enables the regulator to provide recommendations and determine whether the innovation can be rolled out to the public (Ford & Ashkenazy, 2023).

In 2020, Utah launched the first-ever legal innovation sandbox in the United States (Simshaw, 2023; Ford & Ashkenazy, 2023). The sandbox invited innovators with new legal service ideas, primarily aimed at introducing value to consumers not adequately served by the current system (Harvard Law, 2021). The goal was to enable access to well-developed, innovative, higher-quality, and affordable legal services (Ford & Ashkenazy, 2023).

The Utah sandbox created opportunities for new actors and traditional law firms to innovate and explore new delivery of legal services (Harvard Law, 2021). By the close of its first year, two thousand five hundred entities had used the sandbox. Being limited to the state of Utah, its local orientation has raised questions about its reach and sustainability, which led to Simshaw (2023) advocating for the establishment of a national-level sandbox within the United States.

Ford and Ashkenazy's 2023 study on legal innovation sandboxes offers valuable insights that can be applied to African countries keen to establish their regulatory sandboxes. Before starting, regulators should clearly define their goals and critical assumptions. It is the regulator's responsibility to establish clear conditions for participants, ensuring they understand the scope and limitations of the sandbox. In addition, transparency and accountability measures, which include periodic reporting and full data disclosure, should be defined. Regulators must ensure that the data collected is high quality by setting up data standards protocols. Issues related to liability, insurance, and indemnity must be addressed, including putting up measures such as participants' insurance covers or setting up compensation funds. Establishing an independent oversight or advisory body to monitor the sandbox operations would be critical. Finally, regulatory bodies should recognize that sandboxes are resource-intensive and need to have funding strategies for the sandbox.

Innovation hubs and regulatory sandboxes can also serve as resource centers that bring together lawyers and tech specialists to enable practice-oriented innovation. This, in turn, could transform legal tech in Africa and establish the continent as a hub of legal tech ingenuity.

# VI. CONCLUSION

The prevalence of technology has brought in an era of transformation, impacting all aspects of life, including the law. This transformation is reshaping the way legal services are delivered, challenging established models, and introducing new actors in the legal field. It is a disruptive period in the legal sector's history, referred to as the third wave of lawyering, where conventional law is merging with advanced technology.

One of the drivers of disruption is B2C legal tech, which directly targets consumers and eliminates the need for human lawyers. B2C legal tech is gaining ground in Africa as it meets the needs of an underserved market. Driven by the demand for cost-effective legal services and the imperative for legal and justice inclusion, these technologies make legal services accessible to a broader African population. Additionally, the liberalization of the legal profession, spurred by global market dynamics and technological advancements, has created an environment conducive to legal technopreneurship, supported by artificial intelligence and blockchain technology.

However, legal tech is not without challenges. Currently, it cannot handle complex legal situations. Questions have been raised about its unauthorized practice of law and legal liability in the event of algorithms or code malfunction. The lack of transparency and quality assurance challenges further complicate the situation.

Considering these limitations, several recommendations emerge. These include the need to introduce legal tech into law school curricula to produce a tech-savvy legal community; establishing regulatory guidelines for the responsible development, deployment, and use of legal tech; development of legal frameworks for ODR; creation of public awareness initiatives to enable the public to make informed choices; fostering legal research on legal tech in Africa; and establishing innovation hubs and regulatory sandboxes to encourage legal innovation.

In summary, it is undeniable that the use of legal tech is on the rise. It offers the potential for increased legal and justice inclusion by providing cheaper, convenient, and more accessible legal services compared to traditional law firms. However, it is essential to acknowledge their limitations in meeting client needs. Consequently, lawyers still play a vital role in the legal ecosystem. As legal tech continues to gain traction, it is essential to address some of its limitations to enable the seamless integration of these technologies in the legal field.

What remains clear is that the legal profession is at an inflexion point. The pressing question for lawyers is: How prepared are they for what lies ahead?

#### REFERENCES

Cornall v Nagle (1995) 2 VR 188@208

- Faridian v. DoNotPay, Inc., 3:23-cv-01692, (N.D. Cal.). Janson, v. LegalZoom. com, Inc., 802 F. Supp. 2d 1053, 1063 (W.D. Mo. 2011).
- Lola v. Skadden Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, 620 F. App'x 37 (2d Cir. 2015).
- Achachlouei, M.A., Patil, O., Joshi, T., & Nair, V.N. (2021). Document Automation Architectures and Technologies: A Survey. https://arxiv.org/ftp/arxiv/papers/2109/2109.11603.pdf
- Agapiou, A. (2023). Overcoming the Legal Barriers to Implementing Smart Contracts in the Construction Industry: The Emergence of a Practice and Research Agenda. *Buildings*, 13, 594. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/buildings13030594</u>.
- Alessa H (2022). The role of Artificial Intelligence in Online Dispute Resolution: A brief and critical overview, Information & Communications Technology Law, 31:3, 319–342. https://10.1080/13600834.2022.2088060
- Agence Française de Développement (AFD). (2023, June 12). More Tech Companies Are Developing in Africa Than in the Rest of the World. <u>https://www.afd.fr/en/actualites/more-tech-companies-are-developing-africa-rest-world#:~:text=Digital%20technology%20is%20playing%20 an.the%20rest%20of%20the%20world.</u>
- Al Khalil, F., Ceci, M., O'Brien, L. & Butler, T. (2017). A Solution for the Problems of Translation and Transparency in Smart Contracts. http://fc17. ifca.ai/wtsc/Trust%20in%20Smart%20Contracts%20is%20a%20Process,%20As%20Well.pdf
- Allen, H. (2019). Regulatory Sandboxes. George Washinton Law Review 87., p. 709. <u>https://digitalcommons.wcl.american.edu/facsch\_lawrev/709</u>
- Amaral, M. (2021). Case 3: Blockchain and Smart Contracts: Regulatory Challenges and Regulatory Approaches. OECD Case Studies on the Regulatory Challenges Raised by Innovation and Regulatory Responses. OECD Library https://doi.org/10.1787/8fa190b5-en
- Andrada, G., Clowes, R. W., & Smart, P. R. (2022). Varieties of transparency: exploring agency within A.I. systems. A.I. & Soc. Springer Verlag. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00146-021-01326-6</u>
- Ashley, K. (2017). Artificial Intelligence and Legal Analytics: New Tasks for Law Practice in the Digital Age. Cambridge University Press. https://doi. org/10.1017/9781316761380
- Alloghani, M., Al Jumeily, D., Mustafina, J., Hussain, A., & Aljaaf, A. (2020). A Systematic Review on Supervised and Unsupervised Machine Learning Algorithms for Data Science. In M. Berry, A. Mohamed, & B. Yap (Eds.), Supervised and Unsupervised Learning for Data Science. Series Editor

M. Emre Celebi. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-22475-2

- American Bar Association. (2016). Report on the Future of Legal Services in the United States. Commission on the Future of Legal Services. https://iaals. du.edu/sites/default/files/documents/publications/aba\_future\_of\_legal\_ services\_report.pdf
- Andreae, Z. (2015). The Role of Legal Tech Startups in the Digital Transformation of the German Legal Industry. ESADE Business School. <u>https://</u> <u>dd.lecare.com/legaltech.pdf</u>
- Anyantayo, F. (2023). Online Dispute Resolution (ODR) in Africa: The Future of Justice or an Imaginative Castle in the Air. Research Gate<u>https://www. researchgate.net/publication/369501858</u>
- Armour, J., & Sako, M. (2023). Lawtech Leveling the Playing Field in Legal Services? In D. F. Engstrom (Ed.), Legal Tech and the Future of Civil Justice (pp. 19-90). Cambridge University Press. doi:10.1017/9781009255301.002
- Arora, P., & Nagpal, R. (2022). Blockchain Technology and Its Applications: A Systematic Review of the Literature. Proceedings of the International Conference on Innovative Computing & Communication (ICICC) 2022. https://ssrn.com/abstract=4121824 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ ssrn.4121824
- Azu, J. C., Bamgboye, A., & Aminu, H. U. (2021, April 17). How Nigerians Go Through Costly Tortuous Walk to Justice. Daily Trust. Retrieved from <u>https://dailytrust.com/how-nigerians-go-through-costly-tortuous-walk-to-justice/#:~:text=A%20lawyer%20received%20</u> <u>N100%2C000,Appeal%20in%20Abuja%20and%20Lagos</u>.
- Badescu, E. (2021). The Potential Legal ChatBots Have on the Context of Access to Justice. [LLM Thesis Tilburg University]. <u>http://arno.uvt.nl/show.cgi?-fid=159847</u>
- Balcha A. (2022) Online Dispute Resolution for Electronic Commerce Under Ethiopian Legal Framework: The Need for Reform. (2022) Oromia Law Journal Vol 11 No. 1 <u>https://www.ajol.info/index.php/olj/article/view/230764</u>
- Barczentewicz, M. (2021, February 23). I am teaching Technology to (Future) Lawyers. SSRN. <u>https://ssrn.com/abstract=3791608</u>
- Barnett J and Treleaven P (2018). 'Algorithmic Dispute Resolution Automation of Professional Dispute Resolution Using A.I. and Blockchain Technology,' (2018) The Computer Journal 61(3): 399-408 <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/326177955</u> Algorithmic Dispute Resolution-The Automation of Professional Dispute Resolution Using AI and Blockchain Technologies

- Barton, B. H. (2014). The Lawyer's Monopoly—What Goes and What Stays. Fordham Law Review, 82, 3067. Retrieved from <u>https://ir.lawnet.ford-ham.edu/flr/vol82/iss6/17</u>
- Basu S, Duffy J, Leith P, 'Digital Divide, Ageing, and Online Legal Advice,' Changing Ageing Partnership Institute of Governance. Queen University Belfast. School of Law. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/40991474
- Benhamou Y and Ferland J,' Artificial Intelligence and Damages: Assessing Liability and Calculating the Damages,' in D'Augostino P, Piovesan G, and Gaon A, Leading Legal Disruption: Artificial Intelligence and a Toolkit for Lawyers and the Law (2021) *Thomson Reuters*.
- Beresford D & Krebs J.H. (2023) Augmented Legal Systems: Enhancing the Provision of Legal Services By Use of Legal Tech. Amicus Curiae Series 2 Vol 4 No. 2 pp 306-321. <u>https://journals.sas.ac.uk/amicus/article/ view/5584/5269</u>
- Berryhill, J., et al. (2019).Hello, World: Artificial intelligence and its use in the public sectorOECD Working Papers on Public Governance, No. 36, OECD Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/726fd39d-en</u>.
- Bertolini A (2020). Artificial Intelligence and Civil Liability,' Policy Department for Citizen Rights and Constitutional Affairs. Directorate General for Internal Policies <u>https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/</u> <u>STUD/2020/621926/IPOL\_STU(2020)621926\_EN.pdf</u>
- Bartenberger, M., Galla, S., & Kosak, A. (2018). Legal Chatbots Characteristics, Recent Developments, and Ethical Implications. Compliance *Elliance Journal*, 4(1) <u>https://ul.qucosa.de/api/qucosa%3A21215/attachment/ATT-0/</u>
- Grand View Research. (2022). Global Legal Tech Market is Expected to Reach USD 69.7 billion, During the Forecast Period of 2022-32,' https://www. grandviewresearch.com/industry-analysis/legal-technology-market-report
- Borden Ladner Gervais LLP. (June 2022). Canada Artificial Intelligence and Data Act: Impact for Businesses. <u>https://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=8dc8acc6-3e49-4dfd-81cb-a05019f1e1f8</u>
- Brand D. (2022). 'Responsible Artificial Intelligence in Government: A Legal Framework for South Africa,' Journal of Democracy and Open Government 14(1) https://doi.org/10.29379/jedem.v14i1.678
- Brescia R, McCarthy W, McDonald A, Potts K, Rivais C.(2015). Embracing Disruption: How Technological Change in the Delivery of Legal Services Can Improve Access to Justice. *Albany Law Review Vol.* 78(2) <u>http://</u> <u>www.albanylawreview.org/Articles/Vol78\_2/78.2.553%20Brescia.pdf</u>
- Brescia, R. H., (2023a). Teaching to the Tech: Law Schools and the Duty of Technology Competence. Washburn Law Journal, <u>https://ssrn.com/abstract=4361552</u>
- Brescia, R. H. (2023b). What is a Lawyer For?: Artificial Intelligence and Third-

Wave Lawyering. Florida State University Law Review.: <u>https://ssrn.</u> <u>com/abstract=4462676</u>

- Bruce, D. (2015). Responding to the Commoditization of Legal Services. Law Practice, 41(1), 51–53.
- Buiten, M. (2019). Towards Intelligent Regulation of AI. European Journal of Risk Regulation. European Journal of Risk Regulation 10(1), 41–59https:// doi.org/10.1017/err.2019.8
- Burri, T., & von Bothmer, F. (2021). The New E.U. Legislation on Artificial Intelligence: A Primer. SSRN or <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3831424</u>
- Carneiro, D., Novais, P., Andrade, F., Zeleznikow, J., & Neves, J. (2014). Online Dispute Resolution: An Artificial Intelligence Perspective. Artificial Intelligence Review, 41, 211-240. <u>https://ddd.uab.cat/pub/artpub/2014/202519/air\_a2014v41n2p211iENG.pdf</u>
- Caserta, S., & Madsen, M. R. (2019). The Legal Profession in the Era of Digital Capitalism: Disruption or New Dawn? *Laws*, 8(1), 1-19. <u>www.mdpi.com/</u><u>journal/laws</u>
- Castaneda, R. A., Jolliffe, D. M., Fujs, T., Lakner, C., & Prydz, E. B. (2019, October 03). 85% of Africans live on less than \$5.50 per day. World Bank Open Data Blogs. <u>https://blogs.worldbank.org/opendata/85-africans-liveless-550-day</u>
- Cheng Lim, TJ Saw, Calum Sargeant. (2016, July 11). Smart Contract Bridging the Gap Between Expectation and Reality. Oxford Business Law Blog. <u>https://blogs.law.ox.ac.uk/business-law-blog/blog/2016/07/smart-con-</u> tracts-bridging-gap-between-expectation-and-reality
- Chowdhury, E. H., Fjellstr€om, D., Osarenkhoe, A., Hannadige, S. V. S., & Weerasinghe, D. K. C. (2023). The Contribution of Innovation Hubs Towards Strengthening the Regional Development in Sweden. International Journal of Innovation and Technology Management, 20(2),. <u>https://doi.org/10.1142/S0219877023500104</u>
- Christensen, C., Raynor, M., & McDonald, R. (2015). What is Disruptive Innovation? *Harvard Business Review*. <u>https://hbr.org/2015/12/what-is-disruptive-innovation</u>
- Class action(2023) Faridan v DoNotPay CGC -23- 604987 retrieved from <u>Class-action.org</u>
- Cohil, K., & Thomson, G. (2008). Connecting Across Language and Distance: Linguistic and Rural Access to Legal Information and Services. The Law Foundation of Ontario. <u>https://lawfoundation.on.ca/download/connecting-across-language-and-distance-2008/</u>
- Collins C, Dennehy D, Conboy K, Mikalef P. (2021). Artificial intelligence in information systems research: A systematic literature review and research agenda International *Journal of Information Management*, 60, <u>https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2021.102383</u> -
- COMESA. (2023). Determination in the Matter Involving the Investigation on

Possible Misleading and Unconscionable Conduct by Jumia Group, a https://www.comesacompetition.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/DE-TERMINATION-ON-JUMIA-INVESTIGATION.pdf

- Cupido, R. (2016, 2-3 April 2016, ). Online Dispute Resolution: An African Perspective. In Scientific Cooperations 2nd International Conference on Social Sciences, p. Istanbul-Turkey. <u>https://ase-scoop.org/papers/IWLP-2016/3.Cupido\_IWLP.pdf</u>
- Davis, A. (2020). The Future of Law Firms (and Lawyers) in the Age of Artificial Intelligence. *The Professional Lawyer*, 27(1). <u>https://www.americanbar.org/groups/professional\_responsibility/publications/professional\_lawyer/27/1/the-future-law-firms-and-lawyers-the-age-artificial-intelligence/</u>
- De Caria, R. (2019). The Legal Meaning of Smart Contracts. European Review of Private Law, 6, 731–752. <u>https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/302163043.pdf</u>
- DiMatteo, L. A., Cannarsa, M., & Poncibò, C. (2019). General Framework: Legal and Technological. In L. DiMatteo, M. Cannarsa, & C. Poncibò (Eds.), The Cambridge Handbook of Smart Contracts, Blockchain Technology and Digital Platforms (Cambridge Law Handbooks, pp. 1-58). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Arizona House Bill 2417. <u>https://www.azleg.gov/legtext/53leg/1r/bills/hb2417p.</u> <u>pdf</u>
- Del Duca, L., Rule, C., & Rimpfel, K. (2014). eBay's De Facto Low-Value High Volume Resolution Process: Lessons and Best Practices for ODR Systems Designers. Y.B. Arb. & mediation, 6, 204. https://elibrary.law.psu. edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1060&context=arbitrationlawreview
- Dobre, E. C. (2019). The Impact of Legal Tech on Law Firms Business Model. [Master Thesis, Tilburg University]. <u>https://arno.uvt.nl/show.cgi?-fid=149414</u>
- Dunne, N. (2021). Liberalisation and the Legal Profession in England and Wales. The Cambridge Law Journal, 80(2), 274-307 DOI. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0008197321000271</u>
- The eBay Resolution Centre. Retrieved from https://resolutioncentre.ebay.co.uk/
- Ebers, M. (2020, July 15). Legal Tech and EU Consumer Law. In M. Canarsa, M. Durovic, F. de Elizalde, L. di Matteo, A. Janssen, & P. Ortolani (Eds.), Lawyering in the Digital Age (Chapter 12). Cambridge University Press. https://ssrn.com/abstract=3694346.
- Ebner, N., & Greenberg, E. (2020). We are strengthening Online Dispute Resolution Justice. WASH. U. J. L. & POL'Y, 63, 065. <u>https://openscholarship. wustl.edu/law\_journal\_law\_policy/vol63/iss1/9</u>

- Smart Africa(2020). Blockchain in Africa: Opportunities and Challenges for the Next Decade. <u>https://www.(Gakwaya\_et\_al., 2020).de/expertise/down-loads/Blockchain%20in%20Africa.pdf</u>
- Ellul, J., McCarthy, S., Sammut, T., Brockdorff, J., Scerri, M., & Pace, G. J. (2021). A Pragmatic Approach to Regulating Artificial Intelligence: A Technology Regulator's Perspective. SSRN <u>https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/ papers.cfm?abstract\_id=3827303</u>
- European Online Dispute Resolution Platform. Retrieved from <u>https://ec.europa.eu/consumers/odr/main/?event=main.home.howitworks</u>
- European Parliament. (2017). Civil Law Rules on Robotics. European Resolution of 16th July 2017(2015/2103(INL)). Official Journal of the European Union. <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CEL-EX:52017IP0051&from=EN</u>
- Fairfield, J. (2021). Tokenised: The Law of Non-Fungible Tokens and Unique Digital Property. Indiana Law Journal, Forthcoming. SSRN<u>https://ssrn. com/abstract=3821102</u>
- Frankenreiter, J., & Nyarko, J. (2023). Natural Language Processing in Legal Tech. In D. F. Engstrom (Ed.), Legal Tech and the Future of Civil Justice (pp. 19-90). Cambridge University Press. https:// doi:10.1017/9781009255301.002
- Ford, C. L., & Ashkenazy, Q. (2023). The Legal Innovation Sandbox. The American Journal of Comparative Law <u>https://commons.allard.ubc.ca/cgi/</u> <u>viewcontent.cgi?article=1720&context=fac\_pubs</u>
- Garben, S. (2021). Law and Technology in Legal Education: A Systemic Approach at Ryerson. Osgoode Hall Law Journal, 58(1), 139–162. <u>https://doi.org/10.60082/2817-5069.3634</u>
- Gervais, D. J. (2021). Towards an effective transnational regulation of A.I. A.I. & Soc. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00146-021-01310-0</u>
- Gasser, U., & Almeida, V. A. F. (2017). A Layered Model for AI Governance. IEEE Internet Computing, 21(58).. https://doi:10.1109/MIC.2017.4180835
- Graham, K. (2020). Increasing Access to Legal Services to the Middle Class. Georgetown Journal of Legal Ethics, 33, 537. <u>https://www.law.george-town.edu/legal-ethics-journal/wp-content/uploads/sites/24/2020/09/GT-GJLE200022.pdf</u>
- Giuffida, I., Lecherer, F., & Verneys, N. (2018). A Legal Perspective of the Trials and Tribulations of Artificial Intelligence: How Artificial Intelligence, the Internet of Things, Smart Contracts and Other Technology will Affect the Law. William and Mary Law School Faculty Publications, https://doi:10.1017/S1744137421000825
- Harvard Law School. (2015). Disruptive Innovation in Legal Services The Practice: Center on the Legal Profession 1 (2). <u>https://thepractice.law.harvard.edu/article/disruptive-innovation/</u>
- Harvard Law School. (2014) The Global Age of More for Less The Practice: Center

on the Legal Profession 1 (1). <u>https://thepractice.law.harvard.edu/arti-cle/the-global-age-of-more-for-less/</u>

- Harvard Law. (2021). Enter the Sandbox. The Practice J<u>https://clp.law.har-vard.edu/knowledge-hub/magazine/issues/perspectives-on-legal-regula-tion/enter-the-sandbox/</u>
- Hasal M. et al., 'Chatbots: Security, Privacy, Data Protection, And Social Aspects' (2021). Concurrency and Computation: Practice and Experience. <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1002/cpe.6426</u>
- Hewa T.M. et al 2021Survey on Blockchain-Based Smart Contracts: Technical Aspects and Future Research. *IEEE Access*, (9) pp. 87643–87662,. https://doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2021.3068178
- HM Courts & Tribunals Service. Money Claim Online MCOL User Guide for Claimants https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/ system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/762843/mcol-userguide-eng.pdf
- Hongdao, Q., Bibi, S., Khan, A., Ardito, L., & Khaskheli, M. (2019). Legal Technologies in Action: The Future of the Legal Market in Light of Disruptive Innovations. Sustainability, *MDPI AG11*(4), 1015.. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/su11041015</u>
- House of Commons Justice Committee. (2023, September). Whiplash Reform and the Official Injury Claims Service. <u>https://committees.parliament.</u> uk/publications/41505/documents/204357/default/
- Ienia M. and Vayena E. (2020). Ethics Guideline: European and Global Perspective,' in CAHAI Secretariat Towards Regulation of Artificial Intelligence Systems – Global Perspective on Development of a Legal Framework on Artificial Intelligence Systems based on the Council of Europe Standards on Human Rights, Democracy and Rule of Law,' Council of Europe Study DGI 16. T https://rm.coe.int/prems.
- International Bar Association. (2016). Times are changing: Disruptive Innovation and the Legal Profession. IBA Legal Policy & Research Unit. <u>https://</u> www.ibanet.org/Document/Default.aspx?DocumentUid=47F64B78-EFD <u>4-4C78-A571-8DDDC180FD11</u>
- ISDA & Linklaters. (2017). Smart Contracts and Distributed Ledger: A Legal Perspective. <u>https://www.isda.org/a/6EKDE/smart-contracts-and-dis-</u> tributed-ledger-a-legal-perspective.pdf
- JTC Joint Technical Committee. (2017). Case Studies in ODR for Courts: A View from the Frontlines. <u>https://www.ncsc.org/\_data/assets/pdf\_\_file/0023/18707/2017-12-18-odr-case-studies-revised.pdf</u>
- Kerikmäe, T., Hoffmann, T., & Chochia, A. (2018). Legal Technology for Law Firms: Determining Roadmaps for Innovation. Croatian International Relations Review, 24(81), 91-112. <u>https://doi.org/10.2478/cirr-2018-0005</u>
- Kearns, M., & Roth, A. (2020, January 13). Ethical algorithm design should guide technology regulation. Brookings. <u>https://brookings.edu/articles/</u> ethical-algorithm-design-should-guide-technology-regulation/

- Khan S.N. et al., (2021). Blockchain smart contracts: Applications, challenges, and future trends. Peer-to-Peer Netw. Appl. 14, 2901–2925. <u>https://doi. org/10.1007/s12083-021-01127-0</u>.
- Khurana D. et al. (2023). Natural language processing: state of the art, current trends and challenges. *Multimed Tools Appl 82*, 3713–3744. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11042-022-13428-4.Kühl, N., Schemmer, M., Goutier, M. et al. Artificial intelligence and machine learning. *Electron Markets* 32, 2235–2244 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12525-022-00598-0
- Klaaren, J. (2019). What does justice cost in South Africa? A research method towards affordable legal services. South African Journal on Human Rights, 35(3), 274–287. https://10.1080/02587203.2019.1662326
- Kurki, V. (2019). The Legal Personhood of Artificial Intelligence. In V. Kurki, A Theory of Legal Personhood. Oxford Scholarship Online. Oxford University Press Scholarship. http://10.1093/oso/9780198844037.001.0001
- Kühl, N., Schemmer, M., Goutier, M., et al. (2022). Artificial intelligence and machine learning. *Electron Markets*, 32, 2235-2244. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12525-022-00598-0</u>
- U.K. Law Commission. (2020). Smart Contract: Call for Evidence. https://www.lawcom.gov.uk/project/smart-contracts/.
- Larson, D. A. (2011). "BROTHER, CAN YOU SPARE A DIME?" Technology Can Reduce Dispute Resolution Costs When Times Are Tough and Improve Outcomes. *Nevada Law Journal*, 11, pp. 523–559. <u>https://scholars.law.unlv.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1170&context=nlj</u>
- Lawyers Hub. (2022). State of Legal Tech in Africa Report. <u>https://lawyershub.</u> org/media/STATE OF LEGAL TECH IN AFRICA REPORT 2022 1. <u>pdf</u>
- LawTech UK. (2021). Shaping the Future of Law Report. <u>https://technation.io/</u> wp-content/uploads/2021/07/LawtechUK-Report-2021-Final.pdf
- Levi, S., & Lipton, A. (2018). An Introduction to Smart Contracts and their Potential and Inherent Limitations. Harvard Law School Forum on Corporate Governance. https://corpgov.law.harvard.edu/2018/05/26/an-introduction-to-smart-contracts-and-their-potential-and-inherent-limitations/.
- LexisNexis. (2021). Are the Big Four reshaping the future of legal services? https://www.lexisnexis.co.uk/research-and-reports/big-4-report.html
- Linarelli, J. (2022). A Philosophy of Contract Law for Artificial Intelligence: Shared Intentionality. In Contracting and Contract Law in the Age of Artificial Intelligence. M. Ebers, C. Poncibò, & M. Zou (Eds) Contracting and Contract Law in the Age of Artificial Intelligence (Hart, Forthcoming) <u>https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=3876606</u>
- Lodder, A., & Thiessen, E. (2003). The Role of Artificial Intelligence in Online Dispute Resolution. Proceedings of UNECE Forum on ODR. https://www. mediate.com/Integrating/docs/lodder\_thiessen.pdf. McClure, E. (2017). LegalZoom and Online Legal Service Providers: Is the Development and

Sale of Interactive Questionnaires that Generate Legal Documents the Unauthorized Practice of Law? *Kentucky Law Journal*, 105(3), <u>https://uknowledge.uky.edu/klj/vol105/iss3/5</u>

- Makam, G. (2023). The Impact of Smart Contracts and AI on Traditional Contract Law in India. SSRN. <u>https://ssrn.com/abstract=4481134</u>
- Markovic, M. (2019). Rise of the Robot Lawyers. *Arizona Law Review*, 61 p. 325 from <u>https://arizonalawreview.org/pdf/61-2/61arizlrev325.pdf</u>
- Mather, L. (2003). What Do Clients Want? What Do Lawyers Do? 52 Emory Law Journal, p. 1065. <u>https://digitalcommons.law.buffalo.edu/journal\_articles/740</u>
- McGill, J., Bouclin, S., & Salyzyn, A. (2017). Mobile and Web-Based Legal Apps: Opportunities, Risks and Information Gaps. (2017). 15:2 Canadian Journal of Law and Technology, 229. Ottawa Faculty of Law Working Paper No. 2017-17. SSRN <u>https://ssrn.com/abstract=2960207</u>
- McGinnis, J. O., & Pearce, R. G. (2014). The Great Disruption: How Machine Intelligence Will Transform the Role of Lawyers in the Delivery of Legal Services. Fordham Law Review, 82 3041–3066. <u>https://ir.lawnet.ford-ham.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=5007&context=flr</u>
- McKamey, M. (2017). Legal Technology: Artificial Intelligence and the Future of Law Practice. Appeal: *Review of Current Law and Law Reform, 22*, 45-58 <u>HeinOnline</u>.
- McKinsey. (2016). Blockchain in Insurance Opportunity or Threat? https:// www.mckinsey.com/~/media/McKinsey/Industries/Financial%20Services/Our%20Insights/Blockchain%20in%20insurance%20opportunity%20or%20threat/Blockchain-in-insurance-opportunity-or-threat.ashx.
- Money Claim Online. https://www.moneyclaim.gov.uk/web/mcol/welcome.
- Moravec, H. (1998). When will computer hardware match the human brain? Journal of Evolution and Technology. <u>https://jetpress.org/volume1/</u><u>moravec.htm</u>
- Mullender, R. (2005). The Reasonable Person, the Pursuit of Justice, and Negligence Law [Review of Rethinking the Reasonable Person: An Egalitarian Reconstruction of the Objective Standard, by M. Moran]. The Modern Law Review, 68(4), 681–695. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/3699212</u>
- Munga, J. (26 April 2022). To Close Africa's Digital Divide, Policy Must Address the Usage Gap. Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. <u>https://</u> <u>carnegieendowment.org/2022/04/26/to-close-africa-s-digital-divide-poli-</u> <u>cy-must-address-usage-gap-pub-86959</u>
- Navas, S. (2019). The Provision of Legal Services to Consumers Using LawTech Tools: From "Service" to "Legal Product". Open Journal of Social Sciences, 7, 79–103. <u>https://doi.org/10.4236/jss.2019.711007</u>
- Nay, J. (2018). Natural Language Processing and Machine Learning for Law and Policy Texts. SSRN <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3438276</u>
- New York County Lawyers Association. (2017). Report of NYCLA Taskforce on

Online Legal Providers Regarding Online Documents. Approved by the House of Delegates on 4th November 2017. https://nysba.org/app/up-loads/2020/02/Final-NYCLA-Report.pdf.

- Nithesh, N. et al. (2022). Legal and Ethical Consideration in Artificial Intelligence in Healthcare: Who Takes Responsibility? Frontiers in Surgery, https://10.3389/fsurg.2022.862322
- OECD (2019), Artificial Intelligence in Society, OECD Publishing <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/eedfee77-en</u>.
- OECD Employment Outlook (2023). Artificial Intelligence and the Labour Market retrieved <u>https://www.oecd.org/employment-outlook/2023/</u>
- OECD. (2023). Regulatory Sandboxes in Artificial Intelligence. OECD Publications No. 356. <u>https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/docserver/8f80a0e6-en.pdf?expi</u> <u>res=1701108127&id=id&accname=guest&checksum=9E985846B5F-</u> <u>10F3612AB4405A0C993A0</u>
- Ogbo, E., Brown, T., Gant, J., & Sicker, D. (2021). When Being Connected is not Enough: An Analysis of the Second and Third Levels of the Digital Divide in a Developing Country. *Journal of Information Policy*, 11, pp. 104–146. <u>https://doi.org/10.5325/jinfopoli.11.2021.0104</u>
- OneCom. Looking at Law: Closing the Gap Between Technology and the Consumer Through Artificial Intelligence. <u>https://f.hubspotusercontent10.</u> <u>net/hubfs/8993966/Onecom%20-%20Legal%20Research%20Report.pdf</u>
- Osse, L., & Asiamah, G. B. (2020). Ghanaians Cite High Cost, Bias, and Long Delays as Barriers to Using Formal Justice System. Afrobarometer. <u>https://</u> www.afrobarometer.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/ab\_r8\_dispatchno347\_high\_cost\_bias\_delays\_prevent\_ghanaians\_from\_using\_justice\_ system.pdf
- Oroszi, T. (2020). Disruption Innovation and Theory. Journal of Service Science and Management, 13(03), 449–458. https://doi:10.4236/jssm.2020.133030
- Pacheco, S. (2018, March 28). ANALYSIS: DoNotPay Lawsuits: A Setback for Justice Initiatives? Bloomberg <u>https://news.bloomberglaw.com/</u> <u>bloomberg-law-analysis/analysis-donotpay-lawsuits-a-setback-for-jus-</u> <u>tice-initiatives</u>
- Pasquale, F. A. (2018). A Rule of Persons, Not Machines: The Limits of Legal Automation. 87 George Washington Law Review 1 (2019), U of Maryland Legal Studies Research Paper No. 20018-08. SSRN <u>https://ssrn.com/abstract=3135549</u>
- Parycek, P., Schmid, V. & Novak, AS. (2023). Artificial Intelligence (AI) and Automation in Administrative Procedures: Potentials, Limitations, and Framework Conditions. Journal of the Knowledge Economy <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13132-023-01433-3</u>
- Practical Law. (n.d.). Artificial Intelligence Key Legal Issues: Overview. Practice Guide Thomson Reuters <u>http://law.typepad.com/files/can-robots-be-law-yers.pdf</u>

- Remus, D., & Levy, F. (2017). Can Robots Be Lawyers? Computers, Lawyers, and the Practice of Law. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrt.2020.100005</u>
- Rodriguez, A. (2015). Legal Hackathons: Innovation Labs for the Legal Industry. Law Technology Today. www. lawtechnologytoday.org/2015/10/legal-hackathons-innovation-labs-for-the-legal-industry
- Rodrigues, R. (2020). Legal and Human Rights Issues of Artificial Intelligence: Gaps, Challenges, and Vulnerabilities. *Journal of Responsible Technolo*gy, 4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrt.2020.100005</u>
- Rule, C. (2015). Modria The Operating System for ODR. Interview done by MediatorAcademy.com. <u>https://www.judiciary.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/</u> colin rule modria os for odr.pdf
- Rundle, K. (2012). Forms Liberate: Reclaiming the Jurisprudence of Lon L. Fuller. Hart Publication, p. 49.
- Ryan, F. (2021). Rage against the machine? Incorporating legal tech into legal education. The Law Teacher, 55(3), 392–404. <u>https://oro.open.ac.uk/71494/3/71494.pdf</u>
- Salmerón-Manzano, E. (2021). Legaltech and Lawtech: Global Perspectives, Challenges, and Opportunities. Laws, MDPI AG10(2), 24.. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/laws10020024</u>
- San, C. H. I., Mohamad, A. M., & Sule, I. (2022). Commoditisation and Productization of Legal Services: The New Trends and Challenges of Nigerian Lawyers. *International Journal of Law and Politics Studies*, 4.<u>www.</u> <u>al-kindipublisher.com/index.php/ijlps</u>
- Sanders, C. K., & Scanlon, E. (2021). The Digital Divide Is a Human Rights Issue: Advancing Social Inclusion Through Social Work Advocacy. J. Hum. Rights Soc. Work, 6, 130-143. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s41134-020-00147-</u> <u>9</u>
- Selbst, D. A. (2020). Negligence and Artificial Intelligence, Human Users. Boston University Law Review, 100, 1315. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrt.2020.100005</u>
- Schmitz, A. J. (2022). Evolution and Emerging Issues in Consumer Online Dispute Resolution (ODR). Ohio State Legal Studies Research Paper No. 714. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4147917</u>
- Shen, W., & Liu, Y. (2022). China's Normative Systems for Responsible A.I.: From Soft Law to Hard Law. In Voeneky, S., Kellmeyer, P., Mueller, O., & Burgard, W. (Eds.), The Cambridge Handbook of Responsible Artificial Intelligence: Interdisciplinary Perspectives (pp. 150–166). Cambridge University Press. https://doi:10.1017/9781009207898.01
- Shipman, C. (2019). Unauthorised Practice of Law Claims Against Legal Zoom: Who Do These Lawsuits Protect, and Is the Rule Outdated? Georgetown Journal of Legal Ethics, 33 939–955. <u>https://www.law.georgetown.edu/legal-ethics-journal/wp-content/uploads/sites/24/2019/11/GT-GJLE190045.pdf</u>

- Simon, M., Lindsay, A. F., Sosa, L., & Comparato, P. (2018). Lola v. Skadden and the Automation of the Legal Profession. Yale Journal of Law & Technology, pp. 20, 234. <u>https://yjolt.org/sites/default/files/20\_yale\_j.l.\_tech.\_234.</u> <u>pdf</u>
- Simshaw, D. (2023). Toward National Regulation Of Legal Technology: A Path Forward For Access To Justice. Fordham Law Review, 92(1), 1. <u>https://</u> <u>ir.lawnet.fordham.edu/flr/vol92/iss1/1</u>
- Smuha, N. (2021). From a 'race to A.I.' to a 'race to A.I. regulation: regulatory competition for artificial intelligence. Law. *Innovation and Technology*, 13(1), 57–84. https://doi:10.1080/17579961.2021.1898300
- Sourdin, T. (2021). Judges, Technology and Artificial Intelligence: The Artificial Judge. Elgar Law, Technology and Society. Edward Edgar Publishing Inc.
- Spaulding, N. W. (2023). Online Dispute Resolution and the End of Adversarial Justice? In D. F. Engstrom (Ed.), Legal Tech and the Future of Civil Justice (pp. 19–90). Cambridge University Press. https:// doi:10.1017/9781009255301.002
- Surden, H. (2019). Artificial Intelligence and Law: An Overview. Georgia State University Law Review, p. 35, 1305. Retrieved from <u>https://scholar.law.</u> <u>colorado.edu/articles/1234</u>
- Susskind, R. (2008). The End of Lawyers? Rethinking the Nature of Legal Services. Oxford University Press.
- Susskind, R. (2023). *Tomorrow's Lawyer: An Introduction to Your Future* (3rd ed.). Oxford University Press.
- Susskind, R. (2003). *Tomorrow's Lawyer: An Introduction to Your Future*. Oxford University Press.
- Szabo, N. (1994). Smart Contracts. <u>https://www.fon.hum.uva.nl/rob/Courses/</u> <u>InformationInSpeech/CDROM/Literature/LOTwinterschool2006/szabo.</u> <u>best.vwh.net/smart.contracts.html</u>
- Szabo, N. (1996). Smart Contract: Building Block for Digital Markets. https:// www.fon.hum.uva.nl/rob/Courses/InformationInSpeech/CDROM/Literature/LOTwinterschool2006/szabo.best.vwh.net/smart contracts 2. html
- Szabo, N. (1997). Formalising and Securing Relationships on Public Networks. First Monday, 2, No. 9. <u>http://firstmonday.org/ojs/index.php/fm/article/view/548/469</u> or<u>https://www.fon.hum.uva.nl/rob/Courses/InformationIn-Speech/CDROM/Literature/LOTwinterschool2006/szabo.best.vwh.net/formalize.html</u>
- Tai, E. (2021). The Two Faces of Legal Tech in B2C Relations. In L. DiMatteo, A. Janssen, P. Ortolani, F. De Elizalde, M. Cannarsa, & M. Durovic (Eds.), The Cambridge Handbook of Lawyering in the Digital Age (pp. 220–236). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. https:// doi:10.1017/9781108936040.016

- Taherdoost, H. (2023). Smart Contracts in Blockchain Technology: A Critical Review. Information 14, (117). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/info14020117</u>
- Law Society. (2018) Horizon Scanning. Artificial Intelligence and the Legal Profession. Artificial intelligence (AI) and the legal profession | The Law Society
- The Law Society of England and Wales, 'Lawtech Adoption Research Report,' February 2019, https://bernardodeazevedo.com/wp-content/up-loads/2019/12/law-society-lawtech-adoption-report-2019.pdf
- Thomson Reuters Institute. (2023). Alternative service providers: Industry trends. Retrieved from <u>https://legal.thomsonreuters.com/content/dam/</u><u>ewp-m/documents/legal/en/pdf/reports/alternative-legal-services-providers-2023.pdf</u>
- Torfi, A., Shirani, R., Keneshloo, Y., Tavraf, N., & Fox, E. (2020). Natural Language Processing Advancement by Deep Learning: A Survey. <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/339675100\_Natural\_Language\_Processing\_Advancements\_By\_Deep\_Learning\_A\_Survey</u>
- Tsurel, D., Doron, M., Nus, A., Dagan, A., Guy, I., & Shahaf, D. (2020). E-Commerce Dispute Resolution Prediction. In Proceedings of the 29th ACM International Conference on Information & Knowledge Management (CIKM '20) (pp. 1465-1474). https://doi:10.1145/3340531.3411906
- U.K. Government Chief Scientific Adviser. (2015). Distributed Ledger Technology: Beyond Blockchain. <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/492972/gs-16-1-distributed-ledger-technology.pdf</u>
- Justice Committee, 'Coronavirus(COVID-19): The Impact on Courts(House of Commons Paper No.519, Session 2019-21) 16 citing Justice Committee, Court and Tribunal Reforms (House of Commons Paper No.190 Session 2019) <u>https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm5801/cmselect/cm-just/519/51907.htm</u>
- University of Missouri(2020). Introduction: Companies Implementing ODR. https://libraryguides.missouri.edu/c.php?g=557240&p=3832247
- van Noortwijk, K., & De Mulder, R. (2022). The Coming of Age of Legal Technology: What will be needed to take Legal Tech to a new level? *European Journal of Law and Technology*, 13(3). Retrieved from <u>https://ejlt.org/</u> <u>index.php/ejlt/article/view/924</u>
- Votruba, A. M. (2013). Will the Real Reasonable Person Please Stand Up? Using Psychology to Better Understand and Apply the Reasonable Person Standard. Faculty Publications, Department of Psychology, 907. <u>https:// digitalcommons.unl.edu/psychfacpub/907</u>
- Wakunuma, K., Ogoh, G., Eke, D. O., & Akintoye, S. (2022). Responsible A.I., SDGs, and A.I. Governance in Africa. IST-Africa Conference (IST-Africa), 1-13. <u>https://doi:10.23919/IST-Africa56635.2022.9845598</u>
- Webb, J. (2019). Information Technology and the Future of Legal Education: A

Provocation. Griffith Journal of Law and Human Dignity, Law and Human Dignity in the Technological Age, I <u>https://www.researchgate.net/</u>publication/334957219

- Webb, J. (2020). Legal tech: The great disruption? Melbourne Legal Studies Research Paper Series No. 897. SSRN <u>https://ssrn.com/abstract=3664476</u>
- Webley, L., Flood, J., Webb, J., Bartlett, F., Galloway, K., & Tranter, K. (2019). The profession (s)' Engagements with LawTech: Narratives and Archetypes of Future Law. Law, Technology and Humans, 1, 6–26. <u>https://doi.org/10.5204/lthj.v1i0.1314</u>
- Wang, W., & Siau, K. (2018). Artificial Intelligence: A Study on Governance, Policies, and Regulations. In MWAIS 2018 Proceedings (p. 40). <u>http://aisel.aisnet.org/mwais2018/40</u>
- Whalen, R. (2022). Defining legal technology and its implications. International Journal of Law and Information Technology, 30(1), 47–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ijlit/eaac005</u>
- World Bank. (2023, April 5). Africa regional overview webpage. <u>https://www.worldbank.org/en/region/afr/overview</u>
- Xu, J., Vadgama, N., & Tasca, P. (Eds.). The Internet of Value: How Blockchain and DLT are Enabling the New Internet of Value. UCL Report. <u>http:// blockchain.cs.ucl.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Complete-Manuscript v1 early release.pdf</u>
- Xu, Y., Liu, X., Cao, X., Huang, C., Liu, E., Qian, S., ... & Zhang, J. (2021). Artificial intelligence: A powerful paradigm for scientific research. *The Innovation*, 2(4), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xinn.2021.100179.
- Yap, J. Q., & Lim, E. (2022). A Legal Framework for Artificial Intelligence Fairness Reporting. NUS Law Working Paper No. 2022/007 Cambridge Law Journal.: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4128641</u>
- Yoon, A. H. (2023). Technological Challenges Facing the Judiciary. In D. F. Engstrom (Ed.), Legal Tech and the Future of Civil Justice (pp. 19–90). Cambridge University Press. <u>https://doi:10.1017/9781009255301.002</u>
- Zacharias, F. (2004). Lawyers as Gatekeepers. University of San Diego Public Law and Legal Theory Research Paper Series, 20. <u>http://digital.sandiego.edu/lwps\_public/art20</u>
- Záklasník, M., & Putnová, A. (2019). Digital Society Opportunity or Threat? Case Studies of Japan and the Czech Republic. Acta Universitatis Agriculturae et Silviculturae Mendelianae Brunensis, 67(4), 1085–1095.
  =https://www.researchgate.net/publication/335415843 Digital Society - Opportunity or Threat Case Studies of Japan and the Czech Republic
- Zongwe, D. P. (2021). Nobody Can Really Afford Legal Services: The Price of Justice in Namibia. *PER / PELJ*, 24. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.17159/1727-</u> <u>3781/2021/v24i0a6420</u>